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 4
   MARIA R. ABDON,

 5
               Complainant,

 6                                   Docket No. 14-0061
          -vs-

 7
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 9
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11      The report of proceedings had in the hearing of the
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15   State of Illinois at 160 North LaSalle Street, 8th
  

16   Floor, Chicago, Illinois, before the ADMINISTRATIVE LAW
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 1               ALJ RILEY:  Good morning.  Pursuant to the
  

 2   direction of the Illinois Commerce Commission, I call
  

 3   Docket 14-0061.  This is a complaint by Maria R. Abdon
  

 4   versus People Gas Light and Coke Company and its
  

 5   discontinuance without notice in Chicago, Illinois.
  

 6               Counsel for the complainant, will you enter
  

 7   an appearance for the record, first stating your name,
  

 8   and also address.
  

 9               MR. SPENCE:  Yes, Judge.  For the record,
  

10   Keith Spence, S-p-e-n-c-e; address, 4749 Lincoln Mall
  

11   Drive, Matteson, Illinois 60443.
  

12               ALJ RILEY:  Thank you.  And for People's
  

13   Gas?
  

14               MR. BAILEY:  Koby Bailey, counsel for
  

15   People's Gas, 130 East Randolph, Chicago, Illinois
  

16   60601, telephone number (312) 240-4081.
  

17               ALJ RILEY:  Thank you.  And at this time we
  

18   are scheduled to proceed to an evidentiary hearing.
  

19   Mr. Bailey, as I said at the prehearing conference,
  

20   People's Gas having alleged tampering is required to
  

21   proceed first.  And do you have your witness ready?
  

22               MR. BAILEY:  Yes, we do.
  

23               ALJ RILEY:  And please call the witness.
  

24               MR. BAILEY:  I'd like to call -- swear him?
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 1               ALJ RILEY:  I don't know his name.
  

 2               THE WITNESS:  Anthony Blasgen.
  

 3               ALJ RILEY:  And do you swear to tell the
  

 4   truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth so
  

 5   help you God?
  

 6               THE WITNESS:  I do.
  

 7                   (Wherein, Anthony Blasgen is sworn in.)
  

 8                   DIRECT-EXAMINATION
  

 9   BY MR. BAILEY:
  

10      Q.  Thank you.  By whom are you employed, and in what
  

11   role?
  

12      A.  People's Energy.  I'm an investigator.  I've been
  

13   with the company 28 years.  I've been on my current
  

14   duties as field investigator for the past ten years.
  

15      Q.  What is the purpose of your testimony today?
  

16      A.  The purpose of my testimony is to prove-up the
  

17   tampering over at 6802 South Talman.
  

18      Q.  And are we -- pardon me.
  

19          Are you offering any exhibits into the record as
  

20   part of your testimony?
  

21      A.  I am.
  

22               MR. BAILEY:  May I approach the witness?
  

23               ALJ RILEY:  Certainly.
  

24               MR. BAILEY:  First, I'm moving to enter
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 1   Exhibit 1 into the record, Your Honor.
  

 2   BY MR. BAILEY:
  

 3      Q.  Are you familiar with the appearance of the scene
  

 4   in this photo?
  

 5      A.  Yes, I am.
  

 6      Q.  When was this photo taken?
  

 7      A.  This photo was taken on 12/4/2013.
  

 8      Q.  Is this a true and accurate description of the
  

 9   scene?
  

10      A.  Yes.
  

11               MR. BAILEY:  Your Honor, we move to admit
  

12   these photos into evidence, a series of photos into
  

13   evidence, Plaintiff Exhibit 1.
  

14               MR. SPENCE:  Objection to foundation.  I'm
  

15   not sure exactly where this is from.  Is it inside,
  

16   outside?
  

17               ALJ RILEY:  Give a little background.
  

18               MR. BAILEY:  Okay.
  

19   BY MR. BAILEY:
  

20      Q.  Can you explain where this photo was taken?
  

21      A.  Yeah.  On 12/4/13 we arrived at the address on a
  

22   low-usage investigation, and we did not have access into
  

23   the building, but we do have two glass blocks that are
  

24   installed so we could see through those glass blocks so
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 1   we could see our meters and equipment and to obtain a
  

 2   reading.
  

 3          On this day I observed that the two ERT devices
  

 4   with the dial glass were sitting in the glass block, and
  

 5   they were covered with towels and cardboard.  I also
  

 6   noticed at that time when I was looking through that,
  

 7   these meters could possibly have been tampered with.  So
  

 8   these photos were taken outside, looking at the glass
  

 9   block, at our dial glass ERT head.
  

10               ALJ RILEY:  And you say you saw the meters
  

11   from the outside -- were covered with something?
  

12               THE WITNESS:  Yeah, our meters -- we have
  

13   glass blocks installed so our meters would face -- so
  

14   the meter reader would be able to obtain readings.  Back
  

15   in the day they didn't have electronic reading devices,
  

16   so a lot of these meters were in certain glass blocks
  

17   where they could obtain the reading without gaining
  

18   access to the basement.
  

19               ALJ RILEY:  And these glass blocks were
  

20   installed in the building?
  

21               THE WITNESS:  Correct.  So we can see -- not
  

22   by People's Gas, by the owner.
  

23               ALJ RILEY:  Okay.  Who took the photos?
  

24               THE WITNESS:  I did.
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 1               ALJ RILEY:  You did?
  

 2               THE WITNESS:  Yes.
  

 3               ALJ RILEY:  And is it customary to bring a
  

 4   camera with you?
  

 5               THE WITNESS:  Yes, on my investigations,
  

 6   yes.
  

 7               ALJ RILEY:  Counsel, any --
  

 8               MR. SPENCE:  No objection.
  

 9               ALJ RILEY:  All right.  Then Respondent's
  

10   Exhibit 1 is admitted into evidence.
  

11                   (Wherein, Respondent's Exhibit No. 1 is
  

12                    admitted into evidence.)
  

13               MR. BAILEY:  Thank you, Your Honor.
  

14   BY MR. BAILEY:
  

15      Q.  Now I show you a second group of exhibits labeled
  

16   Exhibit 2.
  

17               MR. BAILEY:  For you, these are for you.
  

18   Thank you, Your Honor.
  

19   BY MR. BAILEY:
  

20      Q.  Are you familiar with the appearance and meter
  

21   scene in this photo?
  

22      A.  Yes.
  

23      Q.  What date was this photo taken?
  

24      A.  This was on 12/5/2013.
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 1      Q.  And where was it -- the photograph taken?
  

 2      A.  This was taken inside the building in the
  

 3   basement where our meters were set.
  

 4      Q.  And was this taken with your own camera?
  

 5      A.  Yes.
  

 6      Q.  Is this a true and accurate description of the
  

 7   scene?
  

 8      A.  Yes.
  

 9               MR. BAILEY:  Your Honor, I move to admit
  

10   this exhibit into evidence.
  

11               ALJ RILEY:  Marked as Exhibit 2.0?
  

12               MR. BAILEY:  Marked as Exhibit 2.0.
  

13               ALJ RILEY:  Again, did you take -- the
  

14   witness take this photo?
  

15               THE WITNESS:  Yes.
  

16               ALJ RILEY:  And for what reason did you go
  

17   back to the building on December 5th?
  

18               THE WITNESS:  We were back for an
  

19   inspection, for an inside inspection that we were
  

20   allowed access by the tenant or owner.  I do not have
  

21   exactly who was there.  This was the next day, on 12/5,
  

22   that we were allowed access inside the equipment.
  

23               ALJ RILEY:  Going back to Exhibit 1.0,
  

24   it's -- this was taken on December 4th?
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 1               THE WITNESS:  Correct.
  

 2               ALJ RILEY:  And had the meters been removed?
  

 3   You said they were covered?
  

 4               THE WITNESS:  Yeah, they were -- it's hard
  

 5   to see, because when you take a picture from the outside
  

 6   of the glass block you get a reflection.
  

 7               ALJ RILEY:  Right.
  

 8               THE WITNESS:  On photo two, might show a
  

 9   little clearer, but this is the actual glass block, and
  

10   our meter would normally sit in these glass blocks so we
  

11   could obtain a reading, and the same for three.
  

12               ALJ RILEY:  Okay.  What did you see when you
  

13   took the photo from Exhibit 1.0?
  

14               THE WITNESS:  What I seen was that it was
  

15   covered up.
  

16               ALJ RILEY:  The meter was covered up?
  

17               THE WITNESS:  Correct.  Probably -- the
  

18   glass block in photo two is a lot bigger, so you would
  

19   be able to see a lot more, but the area around the
  

20   glass, along the ERT head was covered with towels and
  

21   cardboard.  So we could only see a limited amount of the
  

22   ERT head and the meter and our equipment because it was
  

23   covered.
  

24               ALJ RILEY:  Okay.  So you came back the
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 1   following day, got access to the premises?
  

 2               THE WITNESS:  Correct.
  

 3               ALJ RILEY:  That's in the basement of the
  

 4   building, correct?
  

 5               THE WITNESS:  Basically -- on photo three --
  

 6               ALJ RILEY:  Well, let's back up a little
  

 7   bit.  At all times we're talking about the building at
  

 8   6802 South Talman, correct?
  

 9               THE WITNESS:  Yes.
  

10               ALJ RILEY:  And this is a two-flat?
  

11               THE WITNESS:  Yes.
  

12               ALJ RILEY:  So there are two meters in the
  

13   basement?
  

14               THE WITNESS:  Yes.
  

15               ALJ RILEY:  And I'm going to Exhibit 2.0,
  

16   inside the building for an inspection, and you took
  

17   these photographs?
  

18               THE WITNESS:  Yes, I did.
  

19               ALJ RILEY:  And what does this photograph
  

20   purport to show?
  

21               THE WITNESS:  Photograph ten, because we
  

22   have a few photographs?
  

23               ALJ RILEY:  No, it's Exhibit 2.0, and it's
  

24   marked as No. 10.
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 1               THE WITNESS:  The top picture?
  

 2               ALJ RILEY:  I'm sorry?
  

 3               THE WITNESS:  Are we referring to --
  

 4               ALJ RILEY:  I see what you mean.
  

 5               THE WITNESS:  I have a packet of photos.  I
  

 6   just want to make sure we're on the right one.  I don't
  

 7   know if we want to mark these 1, 2, 3.
  

 8               ALJ RILEY:  This one's marked Exhibit 2.0,
  

 9   it's handwritten No. 10 at the lower right-hand corner.
  

10               MR. SPENCE:  I show 17.
  

11               THE WITNESS:  We should mark all of these.
  

12   I just want to make sure we're talking about the same
  

13   picture.
  

14               MR. BAILEY:  Make sure I get you the
  

15   complete set here.
  

16               ALJ RILEY:  Counsel, just to make sure we're
  

17   clear on Exhibit 1.0, these are three copies of the same
  

18   photograph; is that correct?
  

19               MR. BAILEY:  For exhibit --
  

20               ALJ RILEY:  1.0.
  

21               MR. BAILEY:  There are actually --
  

22               THE WITNESS:  There should be three.
  

23               MR. BAILEY:  There should be three labeled
  

24   1, 2 and 3 in the corner.
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 1               ALJ RILEY:  Right, I've got that.  Is it the
  

 2   same photograph?
  

 3               MR. BAILEY:  No, those are three different
  

 4   photographs of the same image on the same day.
  

 5               ALJ RILEY:  All right.  What I was going to
  

 6   do -- off the record.
  

 7                   (Discussion off the record.)
  

 8               ALJ RILEY:  Let's go back to the beginning.
  

 9   These are three separate photographs?
  

10               MR. BAILEY:  These are three separate
  

11   photographs.
  

12               ALJ RILEY:  We've got one marked
  

13   Exhibit 1.0, and the other two we'll mark Exhibit 1;
  

14   that they are handwritten 1, 2 and 3.
  

15               MR. BAILEY:  Right.
  

16               ALJ RILEY:  Then I suppose for our purposes
  

17   we can identify them as Exhibit 1.0, No. 1; Exhibit 1.0,
  

18   No. 2, and Exhibit 1.0, No. 3.  And then we are at
  

19   Exhibit 2.0, which is a photograph of the meter -- two
  

20   meters from the inside?
  

21               THE WITNESS:  Correct.
  

22               ALJ RILEY:  And that has the handwritten
  

23   numerical identification No. 10.
  

24               Counsel, is that --
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 1               MR. SPENCE:  Yes.
  

 2               ALJ RILEY:  -- same as yours?
  

 3               And you have testified that you were inside
  

 4   the building for an inspection?
  

 5               THE WITNESS:  Yes.
  

 6               ALJ RILEY:  And is there anything else with
  

 7   regard to Exhibit 2.0, No. 10?
  

 8               THE WITNESS:  Yes, there definitely is.  Am
  

 9   I testifying?
  

10               ALJ RILEY:  Please continue.
  

11               THE WITNESS:  Sure.  Basically the inside
  

12   photo shows -- on this photo that's marked 10, that the
  

13   meters appear to be set on the meter bar, and with the
  

14   meters set on the meter bar in this condition, those
  

15   electronic reading devices could never be up in the
  

16   glass block window.
  

17               ALJ RILEY:  Where are the electronic reading
  

18   devices?
  

19               THE WITNESS:  They are attached to the
  

20   meter.  But in this picture here, shows the day after;
  

21   that this meter could not be -- that reading device
  

22   cannot be put up in that glass block window unless it
  

23   was removed and then put up there.  So with the meters
  

24   set in their original set condition, the ERT devices
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 1   that were in the glass block window the day before,
  

 2   there's no way they could be in that glass block window,
  

 3   because there is no play to move those up, and they are
  

 4   piped in solid, so those things could never be moved up
  

 5   there unless the meter was removed from those swivels
  

 6   and actually placed up there; and that would be the
  

 7   reason we couldn't see anything because it was all
  

 8   covered and blocked.
  

 9               ALJ RILEY:  So on Exhibit 1.0, Nos. 1, 2 and
  

10   3, the meters were in the proper location?
  

11               THE WITNESS:  We didn't know that because we
  

12   didn't go inside to inspect them.  So we couldn't see
  

13   the condition inside at that time.
  

14               ALJ RILEY:  What do Exhibit 1.0, 1, 2 and 3
  

15   purport to show?
  

16               THE WITNESS:  That shows on that day the
  

17   condition that we found where our ERT heads were in
  

18   place.
  

19               ALJ RILEY:  Were the ERTs properly in place?
  

20               THE WITNESS:  Well, at this time we didn't
  

21   know because we didn't have access inside the building
  

22   to see if they were or not.  So going back to
  

23   Exhibit 10, looking at this picture we could tell that
  

24   those ERT devices could never be up into that position
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 1   unless the meter was removed and placed up into that
  

 2   position.
  

 3               ALJ RILEY:  So Exhibit 2.0, No. 10 shows
  

 4   that the ERTs could not possibly --
  

 5               THE WITNESS:  -- be in that glass block
  

 6   window unless the meter was removed and placed up in
  

 7   that window.  So the condition on 12/4 -- we now believe
  

 8   the meters were removed and placed up there --
  

 9   everything was covered so we couldn't see what was going
  

10   on behind those meters.
  

11               ALJ RILEY:  Do the ERT devices appear on
  

12   Exhibit 2.0, No. 10?
  

13               THE WITNESS:  Yes, I can see the side of
  

14   them.
  

15               ALJ RILEY:  Where are they?
  

16               THE WITNESS:  They are in the front of the
  

17   meter facing the concrete.  I have another picture that
  

18   would show exactly where they are set.
  

19               ALJ RILEY:  So what you're saying is, on
  

20   Exhibit 2.0, No. 10, these meters had to have been
  

21   removed?
  

22               THE WITNESS:  Correct.
  

23               ALJ RILEY:  At some point?
  

24               THE WITNESS:  Correct, on 12/4.
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 1               ALJ RILEY:  But you couldn't tell that from
  

 2   Exhibit 1.0?
  

 3               THE WITNESS:  No, because it was all
  

 4   covered, and I didn't have access inside the basement.
  

 5               ALJ RILEY:  So the ERTs, you're saying,
  

 6   could not have been in that glass blocked position?
  

 7               THE WITNESS:  There's no way.  If they were
  

 8   set in the original condition, there's no way you could
  

 9   have them in that glass block, because of all the
  

10   piping, the meter bars, you can't move that up; there's
  

11   no play whatsoever to lift that or move it in any
  

12   condition, move it up.
  

13               I have another picture that shows it more
  

14   clearly, that shows the ERT devices, where they'd be set
  

15   in their original condition.
  

16               MR. SPENCE:  Which picture is that?
  

17               MR. BAILEY:  That's marked Exhibit 2, No. 8.
  

18   Here you go, sir, and, Your Honor, this is Exhibit 2,
  

19   No. 8.
  

20               THE WITNESS:  And that's a side view of the
  

21   meter set inside the basement on 12/5, which shows the
  

22   position of the ERT heads, and where they should be
  

23   normally set.
  

24               ALJ RILEY:  So Exhibit 2.0, No. 8 shows the
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 1   ERTs properly placed?
  

 2               THE WITNESS:  Correct.
  

 3               ALJ RILEY:  And Exhibit 2.0, No. 10 shows
  

 4   that they are not properly in place?
  

 5               THE WITNESS:  They are, they are.  On this
  

 6   date they were put -- these meters were reset for that
  

 7   day.
  

 8   BY MR. BAILEY:
  

 9      Q.  So for the meter set in Exhibit No. 2, picture
  

10   No. 8, are the ERTs properly located on the meter?
  

11      A.  Yes.
  

12      Q.  For Exhibit No. 2, No. 8, are those ERTs properly
  

13   showing in the window?
  

14      A.  No.
  

15               ALJ RILEY:  Then it's both Exhibit 2.0, No.
  

16   8?
  

17               MR. BAILEY:  Right.
  

18               ALJ RILEY:  So what you're saying is that
  

19   the ERTs are properly set on the meter, but they are not
  

20   properly showing in the glass block?
  

21               THE WITNESS:  Correct.
  

22   BY MR. BAILEY:
  

23      Q.  And, so, effectively, what does that mean?
  

24      A.  Well, we believe that these meters were reset for
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 1   our inspection on the next day.
  

 2               ALJ RILEY:  And that was after December 4th?
  

 3               THE WITNESS:  Correct.
  

 4               ALJ RILEY:  Tell me one more time with
  

 5   regard to Exhibit 2.0, No. 10.
  

 6               THE WITNESS:  This is just an overall
  

 7   picture of how we found the meters set on 12/5/2013.
  

 8               ALJ RILEY:  And is it your contention the
  

 9   ERT should be showing in the glass block on No. 10?
  

10               THE WITNESS:  Correct, because the day
  

11   before they were in the glass block on 12/4, and that
  

12   would go back to the pictures of Exhibit 1.
  

13               ALJ RILEY:  And you came back on 12/5, and
  

14   you found out that they were not shown in the glass
  

15   block?
  

16               THE WITNESS:  Right, and they could never be
  

17   set in the glass block unless they were moved off the
  

18   swivels and placed there.
  

19               ALJ RILEY:  I see.  So when you were saying
  

20   they were lower or --
  

21               THE WITNESS:  Yeah, these meters, when they
  

22   were put in with the ERT device were lower, and they
  

23   don't need to be set in a glass block anymore because
  

24   they have an electronic reading device.  We don't read
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 1   them by glass block, we read them by truck now.
  

 2               ALJ RILEY:  Continue, Counsel.
  

 3   BY MR. BAILEY:
  

 4      Q.  Referring to Exhibit 2, marked No. 17, please
  

 5   describe what this picture shows.
  

 6      A.  Okay.  I took a picture of this to show that the
  

 7   swivel that connects the meter was not put back in its
  

 8   right place.  So a couple of the threads that are right
  

 9   before the meter bar are shiny, and the condition that
  

10   this shows is that these -- this swivel was removed, and
  

11   when it was put back into place, it wasn't put back into
  

12   place all the way.  It's also -- it has wrench marks on
  

13   here showing that somebody recently had wrenches on
  

14   these swivels.
  

15               ALJ RILEY:  So you're saying the shiny areas
  

16   were exposed, and it shouldn't be?
  

17               THE WITNESS:  I'm saying somebody had a
  

18   wrench and made marks over these indicating that these
  

19   swivels were removed, and for our inspection, when they
  

20   were replaced, they weren't replaced all the way.  That
  

21   would indicate that -- that's what shows why it was
  

22   removed.
  

23               ALJ RILEY:  Continue.
  

24
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 1   BY MR. BAILEY:
  

 2      Q.  The next exhibit, Exhibit 2, marked No. 19,
  

 3   please describe what this shows.
  

 4      A.  This is another picture of the swivel and the
  

 5   meter bar; that we could see that it wasn't put back all
  

 6   the way in place, and that this swivel was also removed,
  

 7   and when it was put back, it wasn't put all the way
  

 8   back, and we can see exposed threads that weren't
  

 9   exposed to any elements.
  

10      Q.  And looking to Exhibit 2, marked as 11 in the
  

11   bottom center corner, what does this show?
  

12      A.  These are the appliances that were in the
  

13   basement that supply heat and hot water to the
  

14   apartments.
  

15      Q.  And please describe what Exhibit 2.0, marked No.
  

16   12 shows.
  

17      A.  This is just a picture of the water tank that
  

18   supplies hot water to the apartments.
  

19      Q.  And last -- and for the exhibit marked
  

20   Exhibit 2.0, No. 13, what does this show?
  

21      A.  This is just another picture of the hot water
  

22   tank that was in the basement.
  

23      Q.  Now, when you were there, when you were inside on
  

24   that day, was the hot water tank warm?
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 1      A.  Yes, it was, the pipes of the hot water tank were
  

 2   still warm indicating these were just recently in use.
  

 3               ALJ RILEY:  Go ahead.
  

 4   BY MR. BAILEY:
  

 5      Q.  And then lastly, Exhibit 2, marked No. 20, what
  

 6   does this show?
  

 7      A.  This is a picture of the meter swivels.  You can
  

 8   see they were removed, and another picture of wrench
  

 9   marks all over the collars and the swivel indicating
  

10   that somebody's been removing these and putting them
  

11   back in place.
  

12               ALJ RILEY:  I don't have that one.
  

13               MR. SPENCE:  Which picture?
  

14               ALJ RILEY:  Do you have No. 20?
  

15               MR. SPENCE:  No.
  

16               ALJ RILEY:  I'm sorry.  Please say again
  

17   what this purports to show.
  

18               THE WITNESS:  This depicts that the swivels
  

19   had been removed and replaced, and that there's wrench
  

20   marks all over these fittings indicating that they've
  

21   been removed and put back in place.
  

22               ALJ RILEY:  Continue.
  

23               MR. BAILEY:  I now move for the admission of
  

24   Exhibit 3.0.
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 1   BY MR. BAILEY:
  

 2      Q.  Does part of your job involve preparing reports
  

 3   when you do a revenue investigation?
  

 4      A.  Yes.
  

 5      Q.  Was Exhibit 3.0 prepared from your examination of
  

 6   the property on Talman?
  

 7      A.  Yes.
  

 8      Q.  Is this an accurate record of the issue
  

 9   associated with the property at 6802 South Talman?
  

10      A.  Yes.
  

11               MR. BAILEY:  Your Honor, I move to admit
  

12   this as an exhibit.
  

13               ALJ RILEY:  Did you prepare this?
  

14               THE WITNESS:  Yes, I did.
  

15               ALJ RILEY:  And for what purpose was it
  

16   prepared?
  

17               THE WITNESS:  This was prepared -- this is a
  

18   summary of my investigation at the premise that I submit
  

19   to our billing department.
  

20   BY MR. BAILEY:
  

21      Q.  Was this prepared in the regular course of
  

22   business?
  

23      A.  Yes.
  

24               ALJ RILEY:  And for what purpose was it sent
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 1   to the billing department?
  

 2               THE WITNESS:  Was I sent there?
  

 3               ALJ RILEY:  For what purpose was it sent --
  

 4               THE WITNESS:  Due to low usage at the
  

 5   building and on the meters.
  

 6   BY MR. BAILEY:
  

 7      Q.  Now, please describe the conditions associated
  

 8   with you preparing this exhibit.
  

 9      A.  The first part of my report was taken on 12/4,
  

10   and it was basically explaining the conditions found at
  

11   the building, and the conditions that were found were
  

12   that the ERT devices that were in the glass block that I
  

13   could see through Exhibit 13, that the tamper seals were
  

14   missing, and that, knowing that there was no usage going
  

15   through the meters, we determined that these meters were
  

16   tampered with, and there possibly could be a dangerous
  

17   condition in the building.
  

18          So at this time we didn't have access to inspect
  

19   the meters and the piping on this day, so we
  

20   discontinued the service on this day until we were able
  

21   to gain access to inspect the meters, the piping and the
  

22   building service to make sure that our equipment was
  

23   safe.  The rest of the report was taken, and was on for
  

24   12/5/13, and basically this is a summary of what we
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 1   found at the premise, and the reason we determined that
  

 2   there was tampering and theft.
  

 3      Q.  Now I'm going to hand you a label -- an exhibit
  

 4   labeled Exhibit 4.0.
  

 5               MR. SPENCE:  Wait, if we could, just with
  

 6   regards to Exhibit 3.0, it's not signed, I don't know
  

 7   who actually prepared it.  It just indicates the Divine
  

 8   Home House Care meter 2555, and prepared on
  

 9   December 4th.  It gives a summary, but it has no
  

10   indication of exactly who prepared it, so --
  

11               THE WITNESS:  I can testify that I did
  

12   prepare this report.  Normally we don't sign our
  

13   reports.  We use it for billing purposes.
  

14               ALJ RILEY:  This is strictly an internal
  

15   report?
  

16               THE WITNESS:  Yes, it is.
  

17               ALJ RILEY:  For the billing department?
  

18               THE WITNESS:  Yes, it is.
  

19               ALJ RILEY:  And you prepared this report in
  

20   the ordinary course of business?
  

21               THE WITNESS:  Yes, I did.
  

22               ALJ RILEY:  So we actually have a motion so
  

23   far.  I'm going to rule on the -- on all the exhibits,
  

24   so you'll have a chance to object.  Continue, we are on



Marzullo Reporting Agency
(312) 321-9365

64

  

 1   4.0 now.
  

 2   BY MR. BAILEY:
  

 3      Q.  And I'm handing you Exhibit 4.0.  It's two pages.
  

 4          Was Exhibit 4.0 made by you?
  

 5      A.  Yes, it was printed by me.
  

 6      Q.  As part of your job in RPU, Revenue Protection
  

 7   Unit, do you use this report on a regular basis to
  

 8   examine situations of theft and tampering?
  

 9      A.  Yes.
  

10      Q.  Are these type of reports made in the regular
  

11   course of business?
  

12      A.  Yes.
  

13      Q.  And is this an accurate record of the usage?
  

14      A.  Yes.
  

15      Q.  Could you please describe what this shows?
  

16      A.  Yes, this is a report showing the gas usage month
  

17   to month at the premise of 6802 South Talman, first and
  

18   second floor.
  

19      Q.  And why did you prepare this report?
  

20      A.  We prepared this report to look at usage patterns
  

21   to determine if it's warranted to go out to the premise
  

22   to check for possible theft or tampering, and in these
  

23   reports it shows that there was no usage at all in the
  

24   past six months, and no usage as far as this report
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 1   shows.
  

 2               ALJ RILEY:  When you say you printed the
  

 3   report, who does the actual preparation of this report?
  

 4               THE WITNESS:  We obtained this report off
  

 5   our C-first, which is our application that we use to
  

 6   look up data.
  

 7               ALJ RILEY:  So it's a computer generated
  

 8   document?
  

 9               THE WITNESS:  Sure.  Yes.  It just depicts
  

10   the history of the usage of this account for, normally,
  

11   the past three years.
  

12               ALJ RILEY:  And does the report have a
  

13   title?
  

14               THE WITNESS:  No, it doesn't, just an
  

15   in-house document that we print off of one of our
  

16   applications.
  

17               ALJ RILEY:  And what -- for what reason was
  

18   it generated?
  

19               THE WITNESS:  It was generated to check the
  

20   usage and consumption at the premise for the meter
  

21   month-to-month for the past three years.
  

22               ALJ RILEY:  And why did you want to
  

23   detect -- check the usage, the monthly usage of this
  

24   particular dwelling?
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 1               THE WITNESS:  We had a lead from a
  

 2   third-party vendor that checks accounts for us that show
  

 3   that there's a low-usage pattern at this premise.  So we
  

 4   took a look at the account, and we determined that, yes,
  

 5   there might be a problem at this premise because of the
  

 6   low usage and no usage at this premise and on the
  

 7   meters.
  

 8               ALJ RILEY:  This third-party vendor,  can
  

 9   you identify who that is?
  

10               THE WITNESS:  Yeah, they are called
  

11   Detectent.  We just hired them as an analyst to analyze
  

12   our accounts.
  

13               ALJ RILEY:  Detectent?
  

14               THE WITNESS:  Yes.
  

15               ALJ RILEY:  And they were monitoring usage?
  

16               THE WITNESS:  They monitor usage for
  

17   People's Gas.
  

18               ALJ RILEY:  Is that Detectent, Inc., or --
  

19               THE WITNESS:  No, just Detectent
  

20   Incorporated I guess.
  

21               ALJ RILEY:  And they are commissioned by
  

22   People's Gas to monitor usage in various buildings?
  

23               THE WITNESS:  Yes.
  

24               ALJ RILEY:  Do they monitor usage on just --
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 1   randomly, or --
  

 2               THE WITNESS:  They use a full analyst scale
  

 3   that they use to determine if buildings, businesses, if
  

 4   there's any patterns of low usage that might be a
  

 5   problem at the premise with meters, or, you know, theft,
  

 6   or meter problems, and they give us leads to take a look
  

 7   at accounts that there might be a problem at the
  

 8   premise.
  

 9               ALJ RILEY:  So they do this for all People's
  

10   Gas customers?
  

11               THE WITNESS:  Yes.
  

12               ALJ RILEY:  Continue, Counsel.
  

13               MR. BAILEY:  I'd like to move exhibits one
  

14   through -- Exhibit 1, 2, 3 and 4 into evidence.
  

15               ALJ RILEY:  Counsel, any objection to all or
  

16   any of the --
  

17               MR. SPENCE:  No objection as to what they
  

18   purport to show, but other than that, you know, as far
  

19   as their value as to when the certain marks -- for
  

20   example, certain marks were put on Exhibit 2.0, No. 20,
  

21   he indicated there were marks shown on the swivels,
  

22   which indicate that they had been tampering, but there
  

23   is no foundation to when that took place or anything.
  

24   Other than that, no objection as to what he purports
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 1   that they --
  

 2               ALJ RILEY:  Counsel --
  

 3               MR. SPENCE:  -- the pictures show.
  

 4               ALJ RILEY:  And you've completed your
  

 5   direct-examination of the witness?
  

 6               I will hold a ruling in abeyance -- that's
  

 7   a-b-e-y-a-n-c-e -- until we finish the
  

 8   cross-examination.  So, Counsel, I'll turn the witness
  

 9   over to you.
  

10               MR. SPENCE:  Thank you.
  

11                   CROSS-EXAMINATION
  

12   BY MR. SPENCE:
  

13      Q.  Now, you indicated that you did a -- you went to
  

14   the property to do a low-usage investigation; is that
  

15   correct?
  

16      A.  That's correct.
  

17      Q.  When did you first determine that there was low
  

18   usage at the premise?
  

19      A.  Probably the day before or so, so 12/3.
  

20      Q.  And this information was given to you by
  

21   Detectent?
  

22      A.  That's correct.
  

23      Q.  Do you know when they first determined that there
  

24   was low usage?
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 1      A.  No, I don't.
  

 2      Q.  And isn't it true that the meters -- or People's
  

 3   Gas routinely do interior inspections of the meters?
  

 4      A.  Yes.
  

 5      Q.  Do you know when the last interior inspection was
  

 6   done at the subject property?
  

 7      A.  No, I don't.
  

 8      Q.  What is the normal course of inspections for
  

 9   People's Gas to do interior inspections?
  

10      A.  The residential inside inspection I think is --
  

11   every five years they have to do an inside residential
  

12   inspection.  I don't know offhand.  It's three years?
  

13   Three years on a residential.
  

14      Q.  So every three years?
  

15      A.  Correct.
  

16      Q.  So do you know if the last time an interior
  

17   inspection was done at this property, if there was any
  

18   indication of tampering?
  

19      A.  We don't have any -- looking over the records, we
  

20   didn't see any indication of tampering from any of our
  

21   employees, but our employees that go out for inside
  

22   safety inspections do not go to the premise to look for
  

23   tampering.  They go to look for the HELA service,
  

24   corrosion and leaks.  If you're referring to inside
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 1   inspections, they don't go to the premise to look for
  

 2   low usage or for tampering.
  

 3      Q.  Okay.  But if there was -- so when they don't get
  

 4   an interior inspection, when they don't do an interior
  

 5   inspection, how do they determine usage?
  

 6      A.  When who don't?
  

 7      Q.  When they do an interior inspection, you say they
  

 8   don't check for tampering or anything like that.  My
  

 9   next question was, how will they determine -- how do
  

10   they determine usage?
  

11      A.  We determine that by -- we have automated meter
  

12   readings on the reader that are read by a van every
  

13   month, and that would be depicted in Exhibit 4, and
  

14   these are the van readings that were taken month to
  

15   month.
  

16      Q.  So Exhibit 4 indicates the van readings that were
  

17   taken every month at the subject property?
  

18      A.  That's correct.
  

19      Q.  So there is no need for the inspectors to view
  

20   the meter, actually, any longer; is that correct?
  

21      A.  On an inside safety inspection?
  

22      Q.  No, for the meters specifically, the ERTs.
  

23      A.  Which company employees?
  

24      Q.  People's Gas.
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 1      A.  It depends on what they are there for.
  

 2      Q.  If they are there to do a reading, they no
  

 3   longer -- is it still necessary for them to actually
  

 4   visually see the meter?
  

 5      A.  It could be if somebody wants a reading, or they
  

 6   call for a reading, they could come out and take a
  

 7   reading through the glass block.
  

 8      Q.  Do you know if that was done at this property, if
  

 9   anyone requested a reading?
  

10      A.  No, I don't.
  

11      Q.  Now directing your attention to Exhibit 1, 2 and
  

12   3.  Now, you indicated this was taken from the outside,
  

13   correct?
  

14      A.  That's correct.
  

15      Q.  On December 4th of 2013, correct?
  

16      A.  That's correct.
  

17      Q.  And you had indicated some towels and boxes or
  

18   something that was covering the meter?
  

19      A.  That's correct.
  

20      Q.  Those aren't shown in these pictures, are they?
  

21      A.  Yes, they are.
  

22      Q.  Can you point out specifically where you see
  

23   towels covering --
  

24      A.  In Exhibit 1, picture one, right up in here is
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 1   boxes.  You could see the scan numbers of the boxes.
  

 2               ALJ RILEY:  Where are you pointing?
  

 3               THE WITNESS:  I'm sorry, Judge.  To the top
  

 4   left you can see scan marks; you can see numbers on the
  

 5   cardboard.  Like I said, it's hard to get it through the
  

 6   glass block.  On picture two you could see outside of
  

 7   the glass -- of the glass block how large it is.  Now,
  

 8   inside this glass block, where you see the ERT head,
  

 9   around the ERT head, it's all covered, and you can see
  

10   boxes or cardboard right in here.
  

11               Up in the right here, there's -- there was
  

12   towels.  It's hard because it's blocked out.  I did the
  

13   best I could with the picture.  Also, on picture three,
  

14   this is a large glass block, and it's covered all the
  

15   way around just so the other ERT head could be seen.
  

16               ALJ RILEY:  Now, just for identification,
  

17   when you say ERT head, that's E-R-T?
  

18               THE WITNESS:  Correct.
  

19               ALJ RILEY:  Which is electronic reading
  

20   transmitter?
  

21               THE WITNESS:  Electronic reader
  

22   transmission.  We call it a electronic reading device,
  

23   electronic reading transmission.
  

24               ALJ RILEY:  I just wanted to clarify for the
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 1   record.
  

 2   BY MR. SPENCE:
  

 3      Q.  These Exhibit 1, 2 and 3 appear to be taken from
  

 4   the outside at an angle; is that correct, shooting down?
  

 5      A.  Yeah.  Well, picture one would have been slightly
  

 6   right at it, correct.  Picture two is straight on, and
  

 7   picture three is straight on.
  

 8      Q.  If you say so.  They don't appear to be straight
  

 9   on, but it appears to be an angle.
  

10          Now, did you take any exterior pictures of
  

11   this -- these meters on 12/5?
  

12      A.  Exterior, no, I did not.
  

13      Q.  So you don't have any pictures showing what it
  

14   looked like from the outside through the block windows
  

15   on 12/5?
  

16      A.  No, because I gained access, and I took the
  

17   pictures on the inside.
  

18      Q.  On 12/4, you contact the owner or tenant, or
  

19   attempt to contact the owner or tenant?
  

20      A.  We knocked on all the doors and tried to gain
  

21   access, and we had our office call whatever number was
  

22   on record, and we didn't have any access.
  

23      Q.  Did you subsequently contact -- you or anyone
  

24   else subsequently contact the landlord or the tenant to
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 1   indicate that you will be doing an interior inspection
  

 2   on 12/5?
  

 3      A.  On 12/5, we didn't contact -- from my knowledge,
  

 4   they contacted us on 12/5.
  

 5      Q.  And that's because the gas had been turned off?
  

 6      A.  That's correct.
  

 7      Q.  Now, you indicated there was a lock put on at the
  

 8   outside of the -- specifically, let's look with regards
  

 9   to Exhibit 3.0.  You indicated that you had no access to
  

10   the meters, or the basement on this day being 12/4.  We
  

11   had an EMP 321 shut the service off at the B-box, and
  

12   installed a curb locking device; is that part of your
  

13   report?
  

14      A.  That's correct.
  

15      Q.  And that curb locking device was placed on there
  

16   on December 4th; is that correct?
  

17      A.  Correct.
  

18      Q.  And that means that -- when you place a curb
  

19   locking device, does that mean that there could be no
  

20   gas going into the building?
  

21      A.  Correct.
  

22      Q.  Did you check on 12/5, when you returned to do
  

23   the interior inspection, whether or not that curb
  

24   locking device had been compromised at all?
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 1      A.  Yes.
  

 2      Q.  Had it been compromised?
  

 3      A.  No.
  

 4      Q.  So there could not have been any gas going from
  

 5   the B-box, or wherever the gas flows from the outside
  

 6   into the building between 12/4, when it was shut off,
  

 7   and 12/5; is that correct?
  

 8      A.  That's correct.
  

 9      Q.  But you also indicated that somehow it had been
  

10   bypassed?
  

11      A.  That's correct.
  

12      Q.  How does that occur?
  

13      A.  We believe in this situation that these meters
  

14   and swivels were removed, the meters were placed up in
  

15   the glass block, and behind the meters there was some
  

16   kind of connection bypassing the meter bars to supply
  

17   unmetered gas to these appliances.
  

18      Q.  And that's possible even though you have a curb
  

19   locking device on the B-box?
  

20      A.  Well, we determined that this condition was in
  

21   place before 12/4, up until 12/4 when we shut it off.
  

22      Q.  So that was your determination, but my question
  

23   specifically is, how does one bypass a curb locking
  

24   device to have gas enter from the outside into the
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 1   building?
  

 2      A.  On which day?
  

 3      Q.  Between 12/4 and 12/5.
  

 4      A.  I believe once the curb locking device was
  

 5   installed, on this day, at this time, no gas entered the
  

 6   building even past 12/5.
  

 7      Q.  Okay.  But you also indicated that when you did
  

 8   an inspection on 12/5, the interior inspection, that the
  

 9   gas tank -- I'm sorry, the water tank was warm?
  

10      A.  Correct.
  

11      Q.  How does that -- and you indicated that that was
  

12   because you believe that there was gas still going into
  

13   the building between 12/4 and 12/5?
  

14      A.  No, I don't.  My report says that we believe
  

15   those -- to my experience, the pipes were still warm
  

16   because the gas was on up until 1:00 o'clock on 12/4.  A
  

17   hot water tank could, through my experience, stay hot
  

18   for almost two days, and can keep the pipes warm
  

19   depending on usage.  Also, on furnaces, boiler systems,
  

20   those pipes still can be warm and hot up until one, two
  

21   or three days after depending on how much usage passes
  

22   through.  The hot water tanks are insulated, and it's a
  

23   75-gallon tank, so when we did inspect it on the next
  

24   day the pipes were still warm.  The water did not pass
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 1   through enough to cool those pipes indicating that the
  

 2   gas was on, on 12/4, and looking to Exhibit 4, we can
  

 3   see that no usage has passed through these meters in the
  

 4   past, at least, six months.
  

 5      Q.  Okay.  And that's when you kind of start your
  

 6   determination that somewhere -- somehow the previous --
  

 7   at some point between June and December, when you did
  

 8   your inspection, that somehow there was -- something
  

 9   occurred which caused the meters to stop taking
  

10   readings; is that correct?
  

11      A.  The dates that you are referring to, I'm not
  

12   sure, that's why we let our billing department determine
  

13   those dates, but at the time of my inspection, I
  

14   definitely found evidence of tampering, and that's why
  

15   we took the pictures and wrote the report and shut the
  

16   service off.
  

17      Q.  Looking at your report, which is Exhibit 4.0, it
  

18   shows that on or about in June of 2013 there was some
  

19   gas usage going through the meters; is that correct?
  

20      A.  That's correct.
  

21      Q.  And in July of 2013 it appeared that that's when
  

22   the meters stopped reading?
  

23      A.  That's correct.
  

24      Q.  Meaning that there was no gas passing through the
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 1   meter?
  

 2      A.  That's correct.
  

 3      Q.  And that's, again, July of 2013?
  

 4      A.  So we also determine that, based off the
  

 5   appliances that are in the building, that that would not
  

 6   be enough usage that would be used for those appliances.
  

 7   So a theft could be taken up or down at anytime,
  

 8   tampering can be -- it could be reinstalled to meter
  

 9   gas, take it down to -- part of my investigations are
  

10   that, when people steal natural gas, sometimes they only
  

11   steal a portion of it, and some, they just take the
  

12   whole amount.
  

13      Q.  But based on your report it appears that
  

14   between -- prior to July of 2004, there had been
  

15   consistent readings on both these meters for the first
  

16   and second floor since -- what your report says --
  

17   December of 2010; is that correct?
  

18      A.  No.
  

19      Q.  Where is the discrepancy?
  

20      A.  Based on these appliances, those readings are --
  

21   in my knowledge, they are too low based off of the
  

22   appliances that were at the premise.
  

23      Q.  That's speculative, isn't it?
  

24      A.  Yes, it is.
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 1      Q.  But there was usage?
  

 2      A.  Yes, yes, there was some usage that passed
  

 3   through the meter.
  

 4      Q.  Until July of 2013, correct?
  

 5      A.  On certain months, yes.
  

 6      Q.  Now, with regards to the evidence of tampering --
  

 7   direct your attention to Exhibit 2.0, 20.  Is this an
  

 8   interior or exterior picture?
  

 9      A.  This is an exterior picture.  When we remove the
  

10   meter and meter bars, I just took more of an up-close to
  

11   show that there's marks all over these swivels, and that
  

12   the swivels were not put back in their original place.
  

13      Q.  But you don't know what the original place was,
  

14   do you?
  

15      A.  Typically, what my experience is, if you look at
  

16   the swivel that's there, up on the threads where you
  

17   could see all the dry pipo [phonetic], just above it you
  

18   can see a clean shiny thread that's appeared there.
  

19   This would be seated up into the meter bar.  Now, if
  

20   this swivel was removed, and then replaced, and not put
  

21   all the way back in, that's why we determined that it
  

22   was removed, somebody attempted to put it back in, but
  

23   they didn't tighten it up all the way, and that would
  

24   show a clean shiny thread from the meter bar.
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 1      Q.  Okay.  But again, you don't have any knowledge as
  

 2   to when this was moved, when these marks were placed on
  

 3   there at all, do you?
  

 4      A.  No.  My determination is this is not the way it
  

 5   was set by People's Gas, and that somebody had removed
  

 6   these swivels, correct.
  

 7      Q.  But you don't know that, do you?
  

 8      A.  This is just from my experience.  This is exactly
  

 9   as I wrote it.
  

10      Q.  Okay.  You don't have any evidence showing what
  

11   an untampered swivel would look like, do you?
  

12      A.  No, just an explanation of why that looks the way
  

13   it does.
  

14      Q.  Now, going back to Exhibit 1, 1, 2 and 3, is
  

15   there -- would there ever be a need for the individual
  

16   taking an outside reading of the meters to see anything
  

17   other than the ERT?  Not an investigation, but just
  

18   simply a reading.
  

19      A.  Just to go there to take a reading?
  

20      Q.  Right.
  

21      A.  If a reading was called for, for some reason, he
  

22   could go to the premise and use a remote device, or look
  

23   through the glass blocks if one was provided to see if
  

24   he could gain a reading.  In this case -- well, go
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 1   ahead.
  

 2      Q.  And the only reason that you raise the issue of
  

 3   boxes and towels covering the meters is because you were
  

 4   there to do a specific investigation; is that correct?
  

 5      A.  That's correct.
  

 6      Q.  To see whether or not piping had been moved, or
  

 7   changed, or if there was thread that was showing, and
  

 8   things of that nature that you indicated?
  

 9      A.  Correct.  Part of my investigation is to
  

10   determine why there's low usage at the premise.
  

11      Q.  The Exhibit 2.0, No. 10, you don't know when
  

12   these meters were placed originally, do you?
  

13      A.  The original --
  

14      Q.  Yes.
  

15      A.  The original set date of these meters?
  

16      Q.  Correct.
  

17      A.  I don't have that information in front of me.
  

18      Q.  And you don't know whether or not they were like
  

19   this originally, do you?
  

20      A.  From what date?
  

21      Q.  Originally, when they were originally placed in
  

22   the building, the ERTs, you don't know whether or not
  

23   they were in this position, or the higher or lower than
  

24   they are as depicted --



Marzullo Reporting Agency
(312) 321-9365

82

  

 1      A.  Through my inspection, they would be placed just
  

 2   in the place they are right here, because there is no
  

 3   other room for the piping; there's no way to raise these
  

 4   meters because there's not enough room to raise these
  

 5   meters up to those glass blocks.
  

 6          Our old meters that we used up until 15 years
  

 7   ago, we had smaller swivels, and the smaller swivels
  

 8   would be able to raise an old meter up into that glass
  

 9   block.  That's when it was originally placed, but when
  

10   we installed these new meters, they required new
  

11   swivels, which set them lower, but it's okay to set them
  

12   lower because these meters are read through electronic
  

13   reads now; so we wouldn't have to place them in the
  

14   glass blocks.  But there is no room on top of these
  

15   meter bars or on either piping to move higher.  So the
  

16   reason they are set lower, this type of meter, is
  

17   because of the swivel, and that is when we put the
  

18   electronic reading device in, it would set them lower.
  

19      Q.  So it's your belief and your testimony that at
  

20   some point between December 4th of 2013, and at
  

21   approximately 12:49 -- I'm sorry, and December 5th of
  

22   2013, that somehow these -- this configuration that's
  

23   shown in Exhibit 2.0, No. 10 was changed?
  

24      A.  That is correct, that the glass blocks -- there's
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 1   no -- nothing covering them.  The other devices that
  

 2   were taken in Exhibit 1 are not in those glass blocks
  

 3   anymore, and they are set possibly almost eight inches
  

 4   lower facing the concrete.  So I definitely determined
  

 5   that these meters were reset for our inspection on 12/5.
  

 6      Q.  Can you speculate as to why that would be done?
  

 7      A.  Yes.  We believe that there was a connection
  

 8   across that meter bar supplying unmetered gas to the
  

 9   appliances in that building, and that on -- between
  

10   12/4, after the gas was shut off, and 12/5, somebody
  

11   removed those connections, replaced those swivels that
  

12   didn't tighten them in all the way, had wrench marks all
  

13   over them, and reset the meters out of the glass block,
  

14   and reset them into their original spot, and this shows
  

15   exactly where they should be set.
  

16      Q.  So where they should be set, as you state, the
  

17   original, would not allow the meters to be read from
  

18   the -- the ERTs to be seen from the outside?
  

19      A.  Nope.
  

20      Q.  So that means that that probably existed for when
  

21   they originally were placed, when they were originally
  

22   set?
  

23      A.  Depending on, you know, when the building was
  

24   built and the original meters that were set.  As I
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 1   stated, those original meters had smaller swivels, and
  

 2   they were set to the right dimensions to fit those so
  

 3   they could read through the glass block before we
  

 4   installed meters with electronic reading devices.  So in
  

 5   this picture, I don't have the exact date when these
  

 6   meters were set, but -- I wish we had that on there, but
  

 7   I don't have that, but because of the new type of
  

 8   swivels they use, that would lower the meter down so
  

 9   they could not be read through those glass block windows
  

10   in this set position.
  

11      Q.  And other than the pictures that you have in
  

12   Exhibit 1, that show that you can take the readings from
  

13   the outside, or you can see the ERT from the outside
  

14   through the glass block window, that's the only evidence
  

15   that you would have to -- as proof that you would show
  

16   that this had been changed between 12/4 and 12/5?
  

17      A.  Other than my testimony that I did witness these
  

18   ERT heads in the glass block that day, and that's why we
  

19   determined there was a dangerous condition, and we
  

20   discontinued service until we got inside to re-examine
  

21   our piping.
  

22      Q.  And did you notify the landlord or tenant prior
  

23   to shutting off this gas?
  

24      A.  We were unable to notify the tenant on that day.
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 1      Q.  And why is that?
  

 2      A.  Because we had no answer at the door, we had no
  

 3   answer on the phone.
  

 4      Q.  Do you know how many attempts were made?
  

 5      A.  My attempt was made on that day while we were at
  

 6   the premise.
  

 7      Q.  And after it was shut off, did you attempt to
  

 8   notify the landlord or the tenant?
  

 9      A.  No, we were -- the next day we were notified by
  

10   the owner.
  

11      Q.  And is it normal practice to -- when you shut
  

12   off -- to not notify the tenant or the landlord?
  

13      A.  We made an attempt, but we were unable to, but --
  

14      Q.  Prior to shutting it off you made the attempt?
  

15      A.  Yes; knocking on the door, I had my office make a
  

16   call, and we had no access to get in.
  

17      Q.  There was no attempt made to your knowledge after
  

18   it was shut off, correct?
  

19      A.  No, no, because we already made the attempt prior
  

20   to shutting it off, so ten minutes later, it would have
  

21   been the same attempt.
  

22      Q.  But an hour later, three hours, you still made no
  

23   attempt?
  

24      A.  No, we don't have people in place that would
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 1   spend every hour trying to get a hold of somebody.
  

 2      Q.  Okay.  Did you make any attempt to determine
  

 3   whether or not there was a sick or elderly individual
  

 4   residing on the premise?
  

 5      A.  No, we don't make that attempt.  Our normal
  

 6   attempt would be to make contact through the door and
  

 7   through the number listed on our records.
  

 8      Q.  What was the temperature, if you recall, on
  

 9   12/5/2013?
  

10      A.  I don't have the exact temperature.  I know I had
  

11   jackets on, light jackets.  I don't know the exact
  

12   temperature that day.  I don't have that in front of me.
  

13      Q.  Are you aware of the policies and practices with
  

14   regards to shutoffs in the winter time?
  

15      A.  Yes.
  

16      Q.  Between December 1st and March --
  

17      A.  Yes.
  

18      Q.  What is that?
  

19      A.  The -- well, we have a memorandum that we don't
  

20   shut off active accounts between -- I think the exact
  

21   date is December 1st through April 15th unless it's
  

22   determined that there's a dangerous condition, or a
  

23   theft or self-restoral.
  

24      Q.  And that's policy?
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 1      A.  Correct.
  

 2               MR. SPENCE:  Nothing further at this time.
  

 3               ALJ RILEY:  All right.  Thank you.  I just
  

 4   need to ask some questions for my clarification.
  

 5                   CROSS-EXAMINATION
  

 6   BY ALJ RILEY:
  

 7      Q.  What did you observe from the outside on
  

 8   December 4th that lead you to believe there was an
  

 9   unsafe condition?  Was it the cardboard boxes and the
  

10   towels?
  

11      A.  Yeah, that was covering, and on picture 3,
  

12   Exhibit 1, picture three, we determined our cap seals
  

13   were missing.
  

14      Q.  Cap seals?
  

15      A.  There's cap seals that we put in the wells of one
  

16   our meters that cover the screws.  So looking in there,
  

17   we could see that those cap seals were missing, which
  

18   would expose the screws -- we didn't know what was
  

19   holding the head on at that time, okay, so we determined
  

20   that there was a theft in the building based off of
  

21   Exhibit 4, with the usage, and with the condition that
  

22   the meters were in.
  

23      Q.  And looking --
  

24      A.  From what we could see of only a piece of the
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 1   meter.
  

 2      Q.  I understand.
  

 3          Now, looking at Exhibit 2.0, No. 10, are all of
  

 4   the subsequent photos that you took of the different
  

 5   swivels and the threadings, would those be indicated on
  

 6   this Exhibit 2.0, No. 2 --
  

 7      A.  Yes, but I don't have a close-up.  So those are
  

 8   the same swivels, meter bar, all the equipment that are
  

 9   pictured in all of Exhibit 2.
  

10      Q.  But you took separate close-up photos?
  

11      A.  Yes, I did.  Those were the other ones that -- 20
  

12   and --
  

13      Q.  Right.
  

14      A.  -- 19.
  

15      Q.  I understand that.
  

16          Now, as you look at Exhibit 2.0, No. 10, does
  

17   this show the meters have been lowered?  Has the
  

18   tampering already occurred?
  

19      A.  No, this shows that -- you know, we believe the
  

20   meters were reset back to the original condition for our
  

21   inspection.
  

22      Q.  They had been tampered to that prior to that?
  

23      A.  Prior to us gaining access to the building on
  

24   12/4 and when we got in on 12/5.  So between 12/4 when
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 1   it was shut off, and our inspection on 12/5, we believe
  

 2   the connection was taken down, somebody put the swivels
  

 3   back in and replaced the meters back on their original
  

 4   set spot.  And, like I said, if they are set on their
  

 5   original set spot, you can't lift those meters, you
  

 6   can't lift them up to appear to be in those glass block
  

 7   windows, it's set way too low.
  

 8          So we determined that the only reason they could
  

 9   have been up in the glass block window was they were
  

10   removed, put up there, and everything around it was
  

11   covered so we couldn't see behind it; so we couldn't see
  

12   the connection behind it, we couldn't see what was going
  

13   on.  So all of that was removed on 12/5, and this meter
  

14   was reset the way it should have been.
  

15          Now, when it's set the way it should have been,
  

16   those ERT devices can't be up in those glass block
  

17   windows.  That's just another piece of evidence that we
  

18   found that there was a connection across those meter
  

19   bars.
  

20      Q.  That those two meters had been removed, and
  

21   improperly reset, and that's what's reflected in
  

22   Exhibit 2.0, No. 10?
  

23      A.  Yeah, they were removed, those foot holes were
  

24   removed, and there was probably flux connectors or
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 1   piping from the inlet to the outlet supplying unmetered
  

 2   gas, and for our inspection they were taken down, and
  

 3   our equipment was put back in place.
  

 4      Q.  None of that was reflected as you looked through
  

 5   the glass blocks on December 4th, you couldn't tell one
  

 6   way or the other?
  

 7      A.  The only thing you can tell in picture three is
  

 8   also the meter was tampered with.  So when the meter was
  

 9   tampered with, that would also prove-up --
  

10      Q.  You said picture three?
  

11      A.  Picture three, Exhibit 1, picture three.  Down in
  

12   the right-hand corner of the ERT head, there should be a
  

13   red cap seal in there, okay?  And that has been all
  

14   broken out.  So that would make us determine -- also,
  

15   that head could have been loose and removed, put back
  

16   on, some of the usage could have been -- you know, to
  

17   make it look like there's usage on the meter -- taken
  

18   off.  A lot of our thefts are people who only take a
  

19   portion of the gas through taking a head on and off, on
  

20   and off, dropping the meters, putting them back up.
  

21          In this case the condition of the piping looked
  

22   at, you know -- for meters that had been in place so
  

23   long, that these swivels just had marks all over them,
  

24   that they were in and out.
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 1      Q.  I understand that.
  

 2          With regard to the actual bypass of these meters,
  

 3   when did that occur, do you know?
  

 4      A.  We believe it occurred probably for -- looking --
  

 5   our billing department, looking at the usage, I think
  

 6   our billing department billed the second floor for -- I
  

 7   don't know the exact dates, but our billing department
  

 8   will testify to that.
  

 9      Q.  But it happened long before the visit?
  

10      A.  Oh, yes, yes.
  

11      Q.  Now, Exhibit 2.0, No. 10, does that indicate that
  

12   these two meters were bypassed?
  

13      A.  Not in this condition, no, no.  What this picture
  

14   is showing, that these meters were reset sometime
  

15   between 12/4 and 12/5 before we were able to inspect the
  

16   inside, and the reason we couldn't see what was there
  

17   was because it was all covered with cardboard and towels
  

18   and everything else, and the next day that cardboard and
  

19   towels were all gone; they weren't in that glass block
  

20   window.
  

21      Q.  Were the meters registering gas?
  

22      A.  The gas was shut off on 12/4.
  

23      Q.  Had the meters been registering gas prior to
  

24   that?
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 1      A.  Going back to Exhibit 4, you can see the usage.
  

 2   There's no usage whatsoever, at least for six months,
  

 3   and then it was low usage, and then from a couple other
  

 4   months, no usage.
  

 5      Q.  So it's your testimony that the meters were
  

 6   bypassed at least six months before then?
  

 7      A.  Well, even longer than that.  Because looking at
  

 8   the usage -- I only have an exhibit for three years
  

 9   here, and all of this is not normal usage based off of
  

10   the appliances in the building.  So if you go to the
  

11   Winter of 2011, you know, in the winter months, so one
  

12   month they used 26 therms.  Based off of a boiler and a
  

13   hot water tank, it would be more realistic of 2- to
  

14   300 therms on a basic winter month.
  

15      Q.  I realize this is speculation, but why would --
  

16   if a meter had already been bypassed months before, why,
  

17   upon doing an inspection, would someone remove the meter
  

18   and then put it back?
  

19      A.  Because they put it back for our inspection to
  

20   make it look like they are not tampering or stealing
  

21   with the meter.  We're not allowed access into the
  

22   building sometimes on the first initial visit, because
  

23   if there is a steal in place, a lot of customers try to
  

24   replace everything, and hide everything to try and say,
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 1   I just don't use the gas, and your meter's back in
  

 2   place.  So a lot of our thefts are evidenced the next
  

 3   day because we're not allowed access on the first day to
  

 4   inspect the condition.
  

 5          So the next day I have to go off of my experience
  

 6   from doing theft, you know, from my career at the
  

 7   company, that our equipment was tampered with and
  

 8   removed so they could put up a bypass, and then we use
  

 9   all these documents of usage, past usage and the
  

10   condition of the meters on one day to the next.  You
  

11   know, not having access on 12/4 gives somebody a whole
  

12   24 hours to change the condition in that basement before
  

13   we could inspect.
  

14      Q.  And as you were taking this photo on Exhibit 2.0,
  

15   No. 10, could you tell the meter was -- the gas had been
  

16   bypassed?
  

17      A.  I could tell that those meters were -- definitely
  

18   had been removed on 12/4 because of where they are now
  

19   set, because those meters could never get up into that
  

20   glass block like I seen them on 12/4, and then when I
  

21   looked at the swivels, I could tell that the swivels
  

22   were not preplaced, because in picture 19, and in 20,
  

23   all that dried up dope on there should have been sealed.
  

24   When that seal is broken, and then put back, whoever put
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 1   the swivels back, didn't put the swivels back and embed
  

 2   it all the way back in like it should have been, so they
  

 3   missed a whole turn.  Whoever put it back together, they
  

 4   didn't put it back together the way we originally set
  

 5   it.
  

 6      Q.  I guess what I'm trying to get at, what's the
  

 7   connection between the tampering and the bypassing?
  

 8   Obviously, it was bypassed at least six months prior to
  

 9   the time of your visit due to the readings that are
  

10   shown on Exhibit 4.0.
  

11      A.  It could either be by-passed, or that ERT head
  

12   could have been taken off.  There's a couple ways to do
  

13   it, and there could have been multiple ways they were
  

14   doing this, and on picture three, the seals were
  

15   missing.  That gives them access to remove the head.
  

16   The condition that we found with the piping and the
  

17   meters, all's we know is there was nothing being metered
  

18   at this premise, and very low usage at the premise, and
  

19   our equipment was not in the way it should be, the way
  

20   we left it.
  

21      Q.  But it's your suggestion that the meters were
  

22   taken down and put back improperly to try and disguise
  

23   the fact that they had been by-passed, or tampered for
  

24   the purpose of by-passing?
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 1      A.  Yeah, the ERT head could easily be taken off.
  

 2   There's a few different problems with these meters that
  

 3   gives them options of why they were tampered with and
  

 4   by-passed.
  

 5      Q.  Going to Exhibit 4 very quickly.  There's two
  

 6   sheets of paper.  These obviously reflect the two
  

 7   separate meters?
  

 8      A.  Correct.
  

 9      Q.  Do we know which is which?  Because I don't have
  

10   a meter number anywhere.
  

11      A.  These are actually just another panel as far as
  

12   our C-first.  This would show the meter number with the
  

13   reading, and up on here would show the actual reading.
  

14   This one does not.
  

15      Q.  Which one are you referring to?
  

16      A.  This would be the first floor.
  

17      Q.  Identify it by a number down at the bottom.
  

18      A.  I'll identify it by the meter number, which is
  

19   7662.
  

20      Q.  That's what I was looking for.
  

21      A.  That would be the fourth column over to the right
  

22   would be the meter reading.
  

23      Q.  Okay.
  

24      A.  And it's 7662.
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 1      Q.  I don't see --
  

 2      A.  Can I point it to you, sir?
  

 3      Q.  Go ahead.
  

 4      A.  Right here, in the fourth column over, we have
  

 5   all our meter readings listed.
  

 6      Q.  Right.
  

 7      A.  This panel would be the actual meter reading, the
  

 8   address and the account number.
  

 9      Q.  Okay.  7662 is not a reading number, that's
  

10   the --
  

11      A.  That's the reading -- the meter reading that our
  

12   van had taken a read on.
  

13      Q.  The reading 7662, was that for the first floor?
  

14      A.  The first floor.
  

15      Q.  Okay.  That's what I needed to know.  And that is
  

16   identified by the number -- I guess it's page number 508
  

17   on the bottom?
  

18      A.  Yes.
  

19      Q.  It's the first floor meter.
  

20          What do the dollar figures in the lower right
  

21   corner of each exhibit -- are those the amounts that
  

22   were billed, a total of the amounts that were billed?
  

23      A.  No, that's just a total of -- for three years,
  

24   would be the amount that it calculates on the bottom.
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 1      Q.  Total for three years?
  

 2      A.  Correct.
  

 3      Q.  And do we know what period?
  

 4      A.  The period shows on here, the date read is the
  

 5   second column.
  

 6      Q.  Those are the actual dates of the reading?
  

 7      A.  Yeah, 12/4/13, and then on 12/23 of '10.  So this
  

 8   panel only gives us three years.  We have other panels
  

 9   that would give us a longer history.
  

10               ALJ RILEY:  Counsel, did you have any
  

11   further cross based on what I --
  

12               MR. SPENCE:  Yeah, just with regards to
  

13   Exhibit 4.0.
  

14                   RECROSS-EXAMINATION
  

15   BY MR. SPENCE:
  

16      Q.  You indicate that for the first floor there was
  

17   low usage based on -- because you believe that based on
  

18   the appliances that were in the unit, it should be
  

19   higher?
  

20      A.  Correct.
  

21      Q.  Do you know what the first floor is used for?
  

22      A.  What it's used for, the apartment?  We never had
  

23   access to the apartment, just the appliances.
  

24      Q.  Do you know whether it's occupied or unoccupied?
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 1      A.  No, I don't.  We didn't inspect the apartment.
  

 2      Q.  If it was unoccupied, probably you would have
  

 3   less heat, water; isn't that correct?
  

 4      A.  It's a possibility.
  

 5      Q.  And on unit number two, which -- Exhibit 4,
  

 6   No. 2, page two, which is identified at the bottom of
  

 7   page 2693, correct?
  

 8      A.  Correct.
  

 9      Q.  That has significantly more usage; isn't that
  

10   correct?
  

11      A.  During the time -- which time period?
  

12      Q.  From December of 2010, it has what's indicated as
  

13   417 therms; isn't that correct?
  

14      A.  Correct, and on this one here, we didn't bill the
  

15   customer.  We billed this customer on -- for a second
  

16   floor, this is normal usage that's on this meter, so
  

17   this would -- this is a good indication to show exactly
  

18   what these apartments should be using, and we didn't
  

19   bill her for this usage.  We actually billed the second
  

20   floor less usage, I think only for a year-and-a-half,
  

21   correct?  But you can ask our billing department exactly
  

22   on that date.
  

23      Q.  But you're indicating that would be the normal
  

24   usage for an apartment occupied, correct?
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 1      A.  I would say prior to 1/24 of '12 that would
  

 2   probably be a pretty good usage pattern for heat and
  

 3   water for an apartment.
  

 4      Q.  Occupied?
  

 5      A.  Unoccupied or occupied.  I deal with a lot of
  

 6   unoccupied buildings that the owners keep them warm so
  

 7   the pipes don't burst.
  

 8      Q.  It would still be lower than an occupied unit?
  

 9      A.  I don't know what an owner would use.  To my
  

10   experience a lot of owners keep the gas on on unoccupied
  

11   buildings so they don't have damage to their building;
  

12   they still heat them.
  

13      Q.  Right, but wouldn't -- I think it would be common
  

14   that -- wouldn't an occupied unit use more hot water,
  

15   gas, heat than an unoccupied unit?
  

16      A.  Yes.
  

17      Q.  And, again, you don't know whether unit one was
  

18   occupied or unoccupied?
  

19      A.  No, I don't have the history of that.
  

20               MR. SPENCE:  All right.  Nothing.
  

21               ALJ RILEY:  Mr. Bailey, anything on
  

22   redirect?
  

23
  

24                   REDIRECT-EXAMINATION
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 1   BY MR. BAILEY:
  

 2      Q.  In your experience is removing the meters during
  

 3   certain times of the month a way to manipulate the usage
  

 4   that we read on those meters?
  

 5               MR. SPENCE:  Objection:  Calls for
  

 6   speculation as to reasons someone would remove.
  

 7               THE WITNESS:  One more time on the question.
  

 8   BY MR. BAILEY:
  

 9      Q.  In your experience is one of the ways to change
  

10   the reading on a meter that would be reported to
  

11   People's Gas removing a meter?
  

12      A.  Yes, yes, it would stop the reads.
  

13      Q.  And then to restore that flow you would replace
  

14   the meter back to its original condition?
  

15      A.  Correct.
  

16               ALJ RILEY:  Any recross on that?
  

17               MR. SPENCE:  No, Judge.
  

18               ALJ RILEY:  Thank you very much.  My last
  

19   question, could you spell your last name?
  

20               THE WITNESS:  Blasgen, B-l-a-s-g-e-n.
  

21               ALJ RILEY:  Gentlemen, at this time I'm
  

22   going to declare a brief recess.  Let's get a little bit
  

23   of fresh air, about five minutes.
  

24                   (Off the record.)
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 1               MR. BAILEY:  You know, I'd like to move for
  

 2   a continuance.
  

 3               ALJ RILEY:  You're moving for a continuance?
  

 4               MR. BAILEY:  I would like to move for a
  

 5   continuance.  The witness that was supposed to testify
  

 6   to these exhibits was unavailable to be in the office
  

 7   today, not surprising to our knowledge, and we're
  

 8   bringing in a witness late who can't testify adequately
  

 9   to the exhibits, and why certain calculations were done.
  

10               MR. SPENCE:  Object.
  

11               ALJ RILEY:  Counsel, that's going to
  

12   necessitate bringing these people back here for another
  

13   date, closing their business.  Parties have had a month
  

14   to get things together.
  

15               MR. BAILEY:  Yes.
  

16               ALJ RILEY:  I'm not really disposed to grant
  

17   it.  You're saying this witness can't testify adequately
  

18   to the exhibits or billing procedures?
  

19               MR. BAILEY:  The witness can testify to
  

20   billing procedures and the actual billing calculations,
  

21   but as far as the detail behind it --
  

22               ALJ RILEY:  Let's hold off on that.  Let's
  

23   deal with the matters of your exhibits.
  

24               MR. BAILEY:  Okay.
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 1               ALJ RILEY:  Exhibits 1.0, No. 1, 2 and 3,
  

 2   you're moving for the admission I take it?
  

 3               MR. BAILEY:  Yes.
  

 4               ALJ RILEY:  Exhibit 2.0, Nos. 8, 10, 11, 12,
  

 5   13, 17, 19, 20; Exhibit 3.0, which is an internal
  

 6   generated house report, and then Exhibit 4.0, which is
  

 7   another internal document generated -- computer
  

 8   generated --
  

 9               MR. BAILEY:  Right.
  

10               ALJ RILEY:  Showing the meter readings.
  

11               MR. BAILEY:  Right.
  

12               ALJ RILEY:  One for each meter.
  

13               Counsel, do you have an objection to any or
  

14   all of the exhibits that have been identified?
  

15               MR. SPENCE:  Judge, just with regards to
  

16   Exhibit 1 -- well, I guess you can make the
  

17   determination of what they purport that it shows, but,
  

18   you know, over my objection, with regards to what he
  

19   testified to that they show, we have no objection to
  

20   those.
  

21               ALJ RILEY:  All right.  Then the exhibits as
  

22   identified -- respondent's exhibits as identified are
  

23   admitted into evidence.
  

24                   (Wherein, Respondent's Exhibit Nos. 1.0,
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 1                   2.0, 3.0 & 4.0 are admitted into
  

 2                   evidence.)
  

 3               MR. BAILEY:  Thank you.
  

 4               ALJ RILEY:  Counsel, I'm going to have to
  

 5   deny your motion.  I don't think it's possible for us to
  

 6   set another date on this thing without renewing
  

 7   hardships with all these people, so let's do the best we
  

 8   can with this witness.
  

 9               MR. BAILEY:  Thank you, Your Honor.  Right
  

10   now I only have one piece of --
  

11               ALJ RILEY:  Off the record.
  

12                   (Discussion off the record.)
  

13               ALJ RILEY:  Are you calling your next
  

14   witness now?
  

15               MR. BAILEY:  I am calling my --
  

16               ALJ RILEY:  And you are?
  

17               THE WITNESS:  Susan Anderson.
  

18               ALJ RILEY:  Do you swear to tell the truth,
  

19   the whole truth and nothing but the truth so help you
  

20   God?
  

21               THE WITNESS:  Yes.
  

22               ALJ RILEY:  Please proceed.
  

23
  

24                   DIRECT-EXAMINATION
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 1   BY MR. BAILEY:
  

 2      Q.  Miss Anderson, by whom are you employed, and in
  

 3   what role?
  

 4      A.  I'm employed by People's Gas Integrys.  I'm a
  

 5   billing clerk for the Revenue Protection Unit.
  

 6      Q.  And what is the purpose of your testimony here
  

 7   today?
  

 8      A.  I'm going to show you the bills that were
  

 9   prepared by my other co-worker, and the calculation of
  

10   the findings for his billing.
  

11      Q.  And are you offering any exhibits in your
  

12   testimony?
  

13      A.  Yes, we have Exhibit 5.0 and 6.0.
  

14      Q.  Very good.  Now, does part of your job involve
  

15   printing copies from your billing system and usage?
  

16      A.  Yes.
  

17      Q.  Does part of your job involve calculating bills?
  

18      A.  Yes.
  

19      Q.  Were Exhibits 5 and 6 made in the regular course
  

20   of business?
  

21      A.  Yes.
  

22      Q.  And were these prepared from People's Gas billing
  

23   system?
  

24      A.  Yes.



Marzullo Reporting Agency
(312) 321-9365

105

  

 1      Q.  Are these accurate records for the billing
  

 2   amounts and worksheets associated with the amount -- the
  

 3   two accounts -- the first floor, second floor accounts
  

 4   at 6802 South Talman Avenue in Chicago, Illinois?
  

 5      A.  Yes.
  

 6      Q.  Thank you.
  

 7               MR. BAILEY:  We'd like to present these
  

 8   exhibits.
  

 9               ALJ RILEY:  All right.
  

10               MR. BAILEY:  Your Honor, Exhibit 5.0, the
  

11   second page of this is a worksheet, and Exhibit 6, the
  

12   second page is a worksheet.
  

13               ALJ RILEY:  Thank you.
  

14   BY MR. BAILEY:
  

15      Q.  Please describe Exhibit 5.0 and what it purports.
  

16      A.  Okay.  There's two pages here.  The top page is
  

17   the actual bill, a copy of the bill that was sent to the
  

18   customer for the billing period of 4/26 of 2005 to 12/4
  

19   of 2013 in the amount of $9,024.15, billing for
  

20   8,582 cubic feet of gas.
  

21          The second page is for the calculation -- the
  

22   worksheet to determine the calculation of the bill.  The
  

23   number of cubic feet here that is projected on this
  

24   sheet -- this sheet is provided by our billing
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 1   department, People's Gas, for the computer generated,
  

 2   and this bill was based on the billing period of 2001 to
  

 3   2002, and then they subtracted the -- you'll see the
  

 4   correct CCF there of 10,653 cubic feet projected for the
  

 5   years of 2005 to '13.  They minus the 2,071 CCFs that
  

 6   were billed on the actual account for the first floor,
  

 7   that's what the 8,582 CCF determination came about.
  

 8      Q.  And what is the billing period for this bill?
  

 9      A.  4/26 of 2005 to 12/4 of 2013.
  

10      Q.  And why was this billing period selected?
  

11      A.  This is the first floor's account that was
  

12   created in April of 2005.
  

13      Q.  Okay.  And what does Exhibit 6 purport?
  

14      A.  6.0 is for the second floor of the unbilled
  

15   service of usage, and that's from February 23rd of 2012
  

16   to 12/4 of 2013.  That's in the amount of $2,964.74,
  

17   2,032 CCFs that were unbilled, and the second page is
  

18   the worksheet for the meter index projection to come to
  

19   that conclusion of the CCF.
  

20      Q.  And why would there be a discrepancy between what
  

21   we see in Exhibit 5 -- Strike that.
  

22          When we calculate the bill for unbilled service,
  

23   can you please walk through the process of how we do
  

24   that at People's Gas?
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 1      A.  We go through the billing history in this case,
  

 2   and we saw that the usage had considerably lessened
  

 3   throughout those years.  That's what we determine our
  

 4   dates for.
  

 5      Q.  And do we determine -- how do we assess what the
  

 6   customers used but for the tampering?
  

 7      A.  Well, we go through the billing history, and then
  

 8   we did base -- they did give us appliances as well, so
  

 9   -- but based on that previous usage there, they would
  

10   have used -- like, we'll go to the first floor.  The
  

11   first floor account indicates that 2001 to 2002 on the
  

12   worksheet, that the CCF was 1,376 CCFs.
  

13               ALJ RILEY:  What does a CCF mean?
  

14               THE WITNESS:  Cubic feet of gas.
  

15               ALJ RILEY:  Thank you.
  

16   BY MR. BAILEY:
  

17      Q.  And the amount of CCF used is derived based on an
  

18   estimation of usage?
  

19      A.  Oh, we have actual readings on this meter.
  

20      Q.  So with the actual readings.
  

21          And how do you account for the unbilled usage?
  

22      A.  That's determined by the actual -- what they were
  

23   billed in this case, the meter usage that they were
  

24   billed, and then based on the projection or the
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 1   calculation of previous usage that the appliances would
  

 2   calculate, then we came up with the -- on this
  

 3   worksheet, and it just projects it for us, putting in
  

 4   the numbers that we need, and then we just minused out
  

 5   what they were billed, metered gas.
  

 6      Q.  So, effectively, this revised bill for
  

 7   Exhibit 5.0 and 6.0 is the actual bill usage plus
  

 8   unbilled usage.  Unbilled usage is determined by the
  

 9   previous meter reads for those appliances?
  

10      A.  Yes.
  

11      Q.  And those previous meter reads occurred prior to
  

12   2005 with a previous account?
  

13      A.  On the first floor he did the calculation for
  

14   2001, 2002.  The second floor is a different time
  

15   period.
  

16      Q.  So for the unbilled usage, it's based on a
  

17   standard practice for assessing --
  

18               MR. SPENCE:  Objection as to leading.
  

19               ALJ RILEY:  I'm sorry, I'm having trouble
  

20   hearing anybody here.  What's the objection?
  

21               MR. SPENCE:  The objection is leading.
  

22               ALJ RILEY:  Oh, okay.
  

23               MR. SPENCE:  Counsel's kind of telling her
  

24   what to --
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 1               ALJ RILEY:  All right.  Don't lead the
  

 2   witness.
  

 3   BY MR. BAILEY:
  

 4      Q.  Do appliances of certain types have an average
  

 5   usage?
  

 6      A.  Yes.
  

 7      Q.  And were two appliances identified associated
  

 8   with these accounts?
  

 9      A.  Yes.  On the investigator's report sheet it gives
  

10   the appliances indicated at the bottom of that.
  

11      Q.  And based on those appliances there's a certain
  

12   expected usage?
  

13      A.  Correct.
  

14      Q.  Actual bills were sent based on what the meter
  

15   was read?
  

16      A.  Correct.
  

17      Q.  When we detect tampering, how do we recalculate
  

18   the bills?
  

19      A.  We go through the process of seeing -- going
  

20   through billing history to see what the customer would
  

21   use previously, or what the meter had been registering
  

22   previously.
  

23      Q.  And part of that usage is based on those
  

24   appliances usage?
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 1      A.  The appliances that are connected to the meter.
  

 2      Q.  And therefore you believe these bills represent
  

 3   the true and accurate readings that include the actual
  

 4   billed plus unbilled usage?
  

 5      A.  Correct.
  

 6      Q.  Thank you.
  

 7               MR. BAILEY:  Your Honor.
  

 8               ALJ RILEY:  Anything further?
  

 9               MR. BAILEY:  No.
  

10               ALJ RILEY:  All right.  Cross-examine,
  

11   Counsel.
  

12                   CROSS-EXAMINATION
  

13   BY MR. SPENCE:
  

14      Q.  With regard to -- you said you did an example or
  

15   comparable for usage back in 2001; is that correct?
  

16      A.  Yes.
  

17      Q.  Why did you go back to 2001?
  

18      A.  That was -- the bills in the billing history
  

19   after 2002 seem to decrease every year, and this
  

20   customer, her billing period from 2005 to '13 is her
  

21   billing period, but we just based it on normal usage
  

22   that the meter was registering.
  

23      Q.  So normal usage from a previous owner?
  

24      A.  On that meter, and those appliances connected to
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 1   that meter.
  

 2      Q.  Did you make any determination as to when Miss
  

 3   Abdon gained ownership of the property?
  

 4      A.  It was -- we went back to the original date of
  

 5   her service order.
  

 6      Q.  And when was that?
  

 7      A.  Well, the front date is 4/26 of 2005.
  

 8      Q.  So you don't know if prior to 4/26/2005, the
  

 9   first floor was occupied or unoccupied, do you?
  

10      A.  No.
  

11      Q.  And you don't know whether the second floor was
  

12   occupied or unoccupied, do you?
  

13      A.  No.
  

14      Q.  You don't know whether there was a family, or
  

15   whether it was empty at all, do you?
  

16      A.  No.
  

17      Q.  And at this point, with regards to the first
  

18   floor, you don't know -- you looked at an average usage
  

19   over the course of the years.  Has that gone up or down
  

20   since April of -- 26 of 2005?  We'll say between
  

21   April 26th of 2005 and when it was removed in December
  

22   of 2013.  What -- did the average usage significantly
  

23   increase or decrease?
  

24      A.  Decrease.
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 1      Q.  And how much did it decrease by?
  

 2      A.  Well, the calculation here on this sheet
  

 3   indicates that from 2001 to 2002, for one year of usage,
  

 4   the CCF was 1,376 feet of gas used.
  

 5      Q.  Well, I'm not --
  

 6      A.  From '05 to '13 --
  

 7               MR. SPENCE:  Your Honor --
  

 8               THE WITNESS:  She only used --
  

 9               ALJ RILEY:  All right.  That's okay.
  

10   BY MR. SPENCE:
  

11      Q.  I understand, but, you know, what happened in
  

12   2001 and 2002, you're giving that as some anecdotal
  

13   evidence of what was used back then, correct?
  

14      A.  Yes.
  

15      Q.  By the occupants of the building at that time,
  

16   correct?
  

17      A.  Yes.
  

18      Q.  And I will object to any reference to that based
  

19   on the relevance of it with regards to testimony with
  

20   regards to that.
  

21          My question specifically was from when Mrs.
  

22   Abdon -- her in-service date of 4/26 of 2005, okay, was
  

23   there a significant -- well, actually, I'll narrow it.
  

24   Between April 26th of 2005 and the history printout that
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 1   we have from the investigator, which is 4.0, which takes
  

 2   us to December of 2010, was there any -- to your
  

 3   knowledge any significant change in the average daily
  

 4   usage or monthly usage of gas?
  

 5      A.  Well, it looks -- from the readings on the meter,
  

 6   there's portions here that there wasn't any usage
  

 7   billed.
  

 8      Q.  Well, specifically, when are you talking --
  

 9      A.  I'm looking at 9/24 of '12.
  

10      Q.  Well, no, my question was between April of 2005,
  

11   when the in-service date for Miss Abdon, and the first
  

12   date that we have for the report, because it doesn't go
  

13   back any further than that, December of 2010, was there
  

14   any significant daily or monthly average usage
  

15   difference?
  

16                   (Witness conferring with counsel.)
  

17               THE WITNESS:  Yes, this only goes back to
  

18   2010, although we do have previous records in the
  

19   computer system that go back to her date.
  

20   BY MR. SPENCE:
  

21      Q.  But you don't have any evidence with you today
  

22   present to answer the question I asked you, correct?
  

23      A.  No.
  

24      Q.  Okay.  Between -- I'm going to refer to what was
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 1   previously presented as Exhibit 4.0, which was presented
  

 2   by the investigator.
  

 3      A.  Okay.
  

 4      Q.  It begins in December of 2010; is that correct?
  

 5      A.  Yes.
  

 6      Q.  Between December of 2010 and September of 2012 is
  

 7   there any significant difference in the average -- CCF,
  

 8   can you explain what that is again?
  

 9      A.  Cubic feet of gas.
  

10      Q.  Is there any significant difference between the
  

11   use in between December and September of 2012,
  

12   December 10th -- I'm sorry, December of 2010 and
  

13   September of 2012 for the first floor?
  

14      A.  Yes, I see that.  The one reading here only uses
  

15   three cubic feet of gas from May 24th to -- or
  

16   April 24th to May 23rd of 2012.  That's significant.
  

17      Q.  And that's the only one that's kind of a deviant
  

18   from the several other that are listed here between that
  

19   time period; is that correct?
  

20      A.  Right.
  

21      Q.  In regards to the second floor, specifically
  

22   directing your attention between December 23rd of 2010
  

23   and probably May of 2013, outside of the months that
  

24   show no usage, is there any significant change that
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 1   would make you believe that there was some tampering?
  

 2      A.  What were the dates?
  

 3      Q.  Between December 2010 and, say, February of 2013.
  

 4      A.  Yes.
  

 5      Q.  And what was that?
  

 6      A.  Well, there was no usage on the meter, same
  

 7   reading from 9/24 of '12 to 11/26 of '12.
  

 8      Q.  Okay.  So other than those, there has been
  

 9   usage -- what the investigator testified too, those were
  

10   average uses that would be expected or anticipated for a
  

11   unit of that -- with those types of appliances, correct?
  

12      A.  Yes.
  

13      Q.  Okay.  And, again, you don't know whether the
  

14   first floor was occupied currently?
  

15      A.  It was an active account.
  

16      Q.  Right, but you don't know whether it was occupied
  

17   or not?
  

18      A.  No.
  

19      Q.  And the second floor, you don't know whether it
  

20   was occupied or not, do you?
  

21      A.  No.
  

22      Q.  And in your experience would it be a difference
  

23   in between a -- in the billing of an occupied unit as
  

24   opposed to an unoccupied unit?
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 1      A.  I'm sorry.  I misunderstood.
  

 2      Q.  Based on your experience with regards to billing,
  

 3   would there be a significant -- or would there be a
  

 4   difference in the usage between an occupied unit and an
  

 5   unoccupied unit?
  

 6      A.  Yes.
  

 7      Q.  And that could be significant; isn't that
  

 8   correct?
  

 9      A.  Yes.
  

10      Q.  And the number that you list here with regards to
  

11   unit number one, you indicated $9,024.15, correct?
  

12      A.  Yes.
  

13      Q.  And does that number represent -- why don't you
  

14   tell me what that number specifically represents again.
  

15      A.  It's the amount of CCFs that was unmetered gas
  

16   from 4/26 of '05 to 12/4 of '13 for 8,582 cubic feet of
  

17   gas.
  

18      Q.  Now, in your -- are you familiar with the
  

19   procedures with regards to what would elicit an
  

20   investigation if there was low usage?
  

21      A.  As far as the Revenue Protection area going out?
  

22      Q.  Yes.
  

23      A.  They give us the assignment, and we pull the
  

24   paperwork.
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 1      Q.  And do you -- are you familiar with the policies
  

 2   or procedures as to how long they allow a low usage
  

 3   indication to go on without doing an investigation?
  

 4      A.  I'm not aware of that.
  

 5      Q.  Now, this number again, this $9,000, you
  

 6   understand indicates unmetered usage between '05 and
  

 7   when it was removed in 2013?
  

 8      A.  Correct.
  

 9      Q.  And you said they were always actual readings
  

10   taken at this particular property?
  

11      A.  There were van readings on the meter.
  

12      Q.  And you have no evidence today as to specifically
  

13   what months these purported unmetered readings or
  

14   unmetered gas usage took place on Exhibit 5.0, do you?
  

15      A.  It's indicated it started 4/26 of '05.
  

16      Q.  I understand, but you don't have any specific
  

17   months where you indicate, here is the month that was
  

18   unmetered gas usage?
  

19      A.  I don't have that today.
  

20               MR. SPENCE:  Nothing further.
  

21               ALJ RILEY:  Okay.  Thank you.
  

22
  

23
  

24                   CROSS-EXAMINATION
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 1   BY ALJ RILEY:
  

 2      Q.  Very quickly, Miss Anderson.  Which --
  

 3   Exhibit 5.0, is that first floor or second floor?
  

 4      A.  First floor.
  

 5      Q.  That's the first floor.
  

 6               ALJ RILEY:  Any redirect?
  

 7               MR. BAILEY:  No redirect.
  

 8               ALJ RILEY:  All right.  Miss Anderson, thank
  

 9   you very much.
  

10               THE WITNESS:  Thanks, Judge.
  

11               ALJ RILEY:  Counsel, you've got two more
  

12   exhibits here.
  

13               MR. BAILEY:  Your Honor, I would move to
  

14   admit Exhibits 5 and 6 into the record, please.
  

15               ALJ RILEY:  Counsel?
  

16               MR. SPENCE:  Only with regards to
  

17   foundation, Judge.  This is a document that they
  

18   purported that was done in the normal course of
  

19   business, but I think that it's incomplete as to
  

20   specifically what time period.  It's a very wide -- they
  

21   are talking almost eight years of usage here that they
  

22   are not very specific as to when it was -- these usages
  

23   or unmetered usages occurred.  It just gives us a
  

24   number, which you know they want us to believe to take
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 1   as fact, but that would be my objection.
  

 2               ALJ RILEY:  I understand your concern, but I
  

 3   think it's more for me to take care of in my analysis,
  

 4   so I'll let them in over the objection.  5 and 6 are
  

 5   admitted over objection.
  

 6                   (Wherein, Respondent's Exhibit Nos. 5 &
  

 7                   6 are admitted into evidence.)
  

 8               ALJ RILEY:  And does that complete your
  

 9   case-in-chief, Mr. Bailey?
  

10               MR. BAILEY:  Yes, it does.
  

11               ALJ RILEY:  Thank you very much.  Counsel,
  

12   we're a little pressed for time.
  

13               MR. SPENCE:  I'll be very brief.  We're
  

14   going to call Miss Maria Abdon.
  

15               ALJ RILEY:  Do you swear to tell the truth,
  

16   the whole truth and nothing but the truth so help you
  

17   God?
  

18               THE WITNESS:  Yes.
  

19               ALJ RILEY:  Please keep your voice up for
  

20   the court reporter.  Go ahead.
  

21                   DIRECT-EXAMINATION
  

22   BY MR. SPENCE:
  

23      Q.  Can you spell your last name, Miss Abdon?
  

24      A.  A-b-d-o-n.
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 1      Q.  And are you the current owner of 6802 South
  

 2   Talman in Chicago?
  

 3      A.  Yes, I am.
  

 4      Q.  Is that a single-family home or an apartment?
  

 5      A.  It's a two-flat building.
  

 6      Q.  And when did you gain ownership of that property?
  

 7      A.  March 2006.
  

 8      Q.  And is that when you first had gas service at
  

 9   that location in your name?
  

10      A.  Yes.
  

11      Q.  And what is that property primarily used as?
  

12      A.  I reside on the second floor, and the first floor
  

13   was just vacant until 2012 where I had another -- a
  

14   secretary there twice a week.
  

15      Q.  So you're saying you run a business out of the
  

16   first floor?
  

17      A.  Correct.
  

18      Q.  Is there anyone living on the first floor?
  

19      A.  No, because I have a home business license, and
  

20   it doesn't allow that.
  

21      Q.  Is there any cooking done on the first floor?
  

22      A.  No.
  

23      Q.  Any showering?
  

24      A.  No.
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 1      Q.  Is there any other occupants constantly in
  

 2   that -- on the first floor, living on the first floor?
  

 3      A.  No.
  

 4      Q.  How often is someone on the first floor?
  

 5      A.  Well, since 2012 of February, my secretary works
  

 6   there twice a week up till now.
  

 7      Q.  How long is she there twice a week?
  

 8      A.  Between four to six hours a day.  So 12 hours, 10
  

 9   to 12 hours a week.
  

10      Q.  Do you always keep the heat -- what is the
  

11   average temperature you keep that heat on in the first
  

12   floor unit?
  

13      A.  I keep it on, like, 68 just to keep the pipes --
  

14   so it doesn't burst during the winter months, and only
  

15   thing going on there, really, is the computer for the
  

16   business, and the fax machine, and the telephones that's
  

17   plugged in at all times.
  

18      Q.  What about the summer months, what type of gas
  

19   usage is done on the first floor in the summer months?
  

20      A.  Well, if you're considering the basement as
  

21   well -- because there's a basement, first floor, second
  

22   floor, and then there's an attic.  So if you're
  

23   considering the first floor as the basement, that's
  

24   where we do our laundry, so the gas dryer.
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 1      Q.  That meter is connected -- the basement is
  

 2   connected to the first floor usage?
  

 3      A.  I don't know how it's connected, I just pay my
  

 4   bills.
  

 5      Q.  With regards to the second floor, is that
  

 6   occupied?
  

 7      A.  Yes.
  

 8      Q.  And who lives there?
  

 9      A.  I live there, my friend lives there.
  

10      Q.  Is there normal activity, cooking --
  

11      A.  Yes.
  

12               ALJ RILEY:  Wait until he finishes the
  

13   question before you answer.
  

14               THE WITNESS:  Okay.
  

15   BY MR. SPENCE:
  

16      Q.  Is there normal usage with regards to cooking,
  

17   showering, heat --
  

18      A.  Yes.
  

19      Q.  -- in that second floor unit?
  

20      A.  Yes.
  

21      Q.  And has that second floor unit always been
  

22   occupied by you from the time you purchased the
  

23   building?
  

24      A.  Yes.
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 1      Q.  And you've paid your bills consistently since you
  

 2   got in --
  

 3      A.  My first bill, April 2006, all the way till -- I
  

 4   guess till they took the meters in December.  So
  

 5   November for the first and second floor month to month.
  

 6      Q.  And I'll show you what's been previously marked
  

 7   as exhibit -- People's Gas Exhibit 4.0, 1 and 2, first
  

 8   floor and the second floor.  And you see the last column
  

 9   where it says amount?
  

10      A.  This one?
  

11      Q.  Yes.
  

12          Do you believe that to be a fairly accurate
  

13   reflection of your monthly payments?
  

14      A.  Well, it's accurately -- if you want accurately,
  

15   I have it right here so you guys can match it up.
  

16               MR. SPENCE:  Your Honor, it's a fairly large
  

17   document, these are all her bills.
  

18               THE WITNESS:  I already did --
  

19               ALJ RILEY:  Okay.  Hold on.
  

20               MR. SPENCE:  I've got a summary of her
  

21   payments that -- between January of 2006 and 2013 that
  

22   we'll present as evidence.  It simply reflects what
  

23   she's actually paid, that she normally keeps, and these
  

24   are the records she normally keeps.  We simply did a
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 1   spreadsheet showing her payments for that period of
  

 2   time.  I don't know if counsel has an objection to
  

 3   admitting this into evidence or not.
  

 4               MR. BAILEY:  And where are the worksheets
  

 5   and foundational documents?
  

 6               MR. SPENCE:  These are reflected from her
  

 7   bills that she receives and the payments made.
  

 8               MR. BAILEY:  And --
  

 9               MR. SPENCE:  They are month to month, and I
  

10   can get you copies of all of these.
  

11               THE WITNESS:  I have copies for you guys
  

12   too.  Sorry.
  

13               ALJ RILEY:  That's all right.  Have you
  

14   got -- what?  Something, 7, 8 years of bills there?
  

15               MR. SPENCE:  Correct.
  

16               THE WITNESS:  Month to month for both
  

17   floors?
  

18               MR. SPENCE:  I guess we do have copies.
  

19               ALJ RILEY:  It's a statistical nightmare to
  

20   make copies.
  

21               THE WITNESS:  I have them.
  

22               MR. SPENCE:  We have copies for both, I
  

23   believe.  We have two extra copies?
  

24               ALJ RILEY:  You have copies for -- this is
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 1   much preferable to the spreadsheet.  Thank you very
  

 2   much.
  

 3               Let the record reflect that these are
  

 4   copies, and, Counsel, go ahead, and if you would, lay
  

 5   some foundation.
  

 6   BY MR. SPENCE:
  

 7      Q.  You presented what we'll mark as plaintiff's
  

 8   Exhibit 1?
  

 9               ALJ RILEY?  Group exhibit?
  

10               MR. SPENCE:  Group Exhibit 1.
  

11   BY MR. SPENCE:
  

12      Q.  And what do you purport this to be?
  

13      A.  The first and second floor year to year, month to
  

14   month bills that was sent to me by People's Gas.
  

15      Q.  And these were the bills that were sent.
  

16          Did you make payments timely on these --
  

17      A.  Yes.
  

18      Q.  -- two accounts?
  

19      A.  Yes, I did.
  

20      Q.  Has your gas ever been cut off because of
  

21   nonpayment?
  

22      A.  No, sir.
  

23      Q.  Between when you purchased in March 2006 until it
  

24   was removed in 20 -- December of 2013?
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 1      A.  Service cutoff, no.
  

 2      Q.  So you've paid your bills on time?
  

 3      A.  Yes.
  

 4      Q.  And you've kept -- why did you keep these
  

 5   records?
  

 6      A.  That's just my character.  I keep all my
  

 7   receipts, everything.  I have Comed's, everybody.
  

 8      Q.  And did you prepare this in anticipation of this
  

 9   litigation, you put these documents together?
  

10      A.  Well, no, I've always --
  

11      Q.  I know you've kept the documents.
  

12      A.  Yes, because that was the instructions sent to me
  

13   by the ICC to prepare three copies of everything.
  

14      Q.  And that's what you've done?
  

15      A.  Yes, sir.
  

16      Q.  And your -- when was your gas cut off?
  

17      A.  Well, I found out that there was no gas coming
  

18   into the house when I tried to cook December 4th after
  

19   work, and there was no hot water, there was no pilot
  

20   light so I thought there was something wrong with the
  

21   gas, so I was scared, and, so, I called to see if an
  

22   inspection could be done.
  

23      Q.  Did you receive any prior notice that it would be
  

24   cut off?
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 1      A.  No, sir.
  

 2      Q.  Was there any notice left at the building?
  

 3      A.  No, sir.
  

 4      Q.  Did you receive any subsequent notice --
  

 5      A.  No, sir.
  

 6      Q.  -- before you called Comed -- I mean, before you
  

 7   called People's Gas?
  

 8      A.  No.
  

 9      Q.  During readings, is there ever anyone coming
  

10   inside your building?  Does anyone ever come inside the
  

11   building to do meter readings?
  

12      A.  Yes.  Since we've moved there we've had maybe two
  

13   or three gentlemen, and they always left a notice for us
  

14   to call to make sure it was okay for them to come.  So
  

15   we had to make an appointment, and, so, that's why I
  

16   thought they were coming in to read it, because you
  

17   can't see it from the outside, whatever they had to do.
  

18      Q.  How do you know this?
  

19      A.  Because they send a notice.
  

20      Q.  I'm sorry, bad question.  How do you know they
  

21   can't see the meters from the outside?
  

22      A.  I assume that's why they were coming into my
  

23   home.
  

24      Q.  When was the last time that someone came into the
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 1   home?
  

 2      A.  They did not come this year, so --
  

 3      Q.  This year being 2014?
  

 4      A.  No, last year, 2013, they did not come that year.
  

 5   I believe they were there the year before that, and
  

 6   that's when they put those red things that you see --
  

 7   because I remember asking the gentleman that was there,
  

 8   what is that for?  And then he said, we just have to tag
  

 9   it to make sure it shows that we were there.  I was
  

10   like, okay.
  

11      Q.  Again, do you specifically remember what month
  

12   that was in 2012?
  

13      A.  I know it's not cold outside anymore.  So it's
  

14   somewhere in the spring.  Do you remember?
  

15               ALJ RILEY:  Excuse me, I'm sorry.
  

16   BY MR. SPENCE:
  

17      Q.  Only if you remember.
  

18      A.  Okay.
  

19      Q.  And once you called People's Gas on
  

20   December 4th -- is that correct?
  

21      A.  Yes.
  

22      Q.  -- did someone come out?
  

23      A.  Not December 4th, no.  I did not call
  

24   December 4th.  That's when I found out that there was no
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 1   gas.
  

 2      Q.  Why didn't you call December 4th?
  

 3      A.  I called because I was scared.
  

 4      Q.  No, I'm sorry, why didn't you call December 4th?
  

 5      A.  Because they were already closed.
  

 6      Q.  And so you called December 5th?
  

 7      A.  Early in the morning, 9:00 o'clock.
  

 8      Q.  And what happened after that?
  

 9      A.  I told them what happened, and then they said --
  

10   I don't know, they put me on hold, and then they said
  

11   that there would be -- the serviceman would be there on
  

12   the 5th between 11:00 or 1:00, or 1:30 -- 1:30.  I said
  

13   okay, so that's what happened.
  

14      Q.  Someone came out, and do you know what they did?
  

15   Did you see them do any type of work?
  

16      A.  Well, I wasn't there, my roommate was there,
  

17   because I was doing visits, so she can further explain
  

18   what they did.
  

19      Q.  That's fine.
  

20               MR. SPENCE:  I have nothing further.
  

21               ALJ RILEY:  All right.  Thank you.
  

22   Mr. Bailey, any cross-examination for the witness?
  

23               MR. BAILEY:  Yes, sir.
  

24                   CROSS-EXAMINATION
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 1   BY MR. BAILEY:
  

 2      Q.  Miss Abdon, is it true that you had an account
  

 3   setup with us in April 26th of 2005?
  

 4      A.  The first bill that I have on there is this, this
  

 5   is the first bill that I have.
  

 6      Q.  So your first bill reflects a billing date of
  

 7   November -- we have a 10/24 of -- in October of 2006?
  

 8      A.  Yeah.
  

 9      Q.  Through November of 2006?
  

10      A.  Well, the payment due is the 12/13/2006.  Where
  

11   are you getting November from?
  

12      Q.  Over on the top right-hand corner.
  

13      A.  Because mine has a punch hole.
  

14      Q.  Look at the top right-hand corner, right after
  

15   the emergency numbers, there's the current usage that
  

16   says 10/24/06 through 11/24/06.
  

17      A.  Okay.
  

18      Q.  This is the first bill?
  

19      A.  This is the first bill that I kept.  I had moved
  

20   there March.
  

21      Q.  Of the previous year?
  

22      A.  No.
  

23               ALJ RILEY:  March of what year?
  

24               THE WITNESS:  2006.
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 1               ALJ RILEY:  Thank you.
  

 2   BY MR. BAILEY:
  

 3      Q.  So you have no record of setting up an account
  

 4   there on April 26th of 2005?
  

 5      A.  Just my -- 2005?  Not with me.  If I do, I have
  

 6   to probably dig some more.
  

 7      Q.  When did you establish gas service at the
  

 8   residence on Talman?
  

 9      A.  In 2006, because I moved there March 2006.
  

10      Q.  March 2006?
  

11      A.  So I could not have gotten anything in 2005 under
  

12   my name if I did not reside there.
  

13      Q.  Okay.  Let's turn to some of your usage here, the
  

14   voluminous usage that it is.  Turning to your usage and
  

15   your bills, and looking at -- if you could, turn to your
  

16   usage of January 25th, 2013.
  

17      A.  Which floor?
  

18      Q.  Floor one, first floor.
  

19      A.  What was the date?
  

20      Q.  January -- the bill date was January 25th, 2013.
  

21               MR. SPENCE:  Bill date was --
  

22               MR. BAILEY:  I'm sorry, January 1st --
  

23   January 25th, 2013, first floor.
  

24               MR. SPENCE:  Okay.
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 1   BY MR. BAILEY:
  

 2      Q.  And go over to the summary of usage of therms on
  

 3   the right-hand side of that bill.  Can you explain the
  

 4   widely varying usage?
  

 5               ALJ RILEY:  What are you referring to,
  

 6   Counsel?
  

 7               MR. BAILEY:  I'm referring -- on the far
  

 8   right-hand side, called summary of usage in therms,
  

 9   there's a bar chart that shows January 2012 through
  

10   January 2013.
  

11               ALJ RILEY:  Got it.
  

12   BY MR. BAILEY:
  

13      Q.  And generally we go from 15 therms up to about
  

14   25 therms, and then May, all of a sudden we're down to
  

15   three, and then we have roughly 15 therms being used
  

16   across until September, and then we go down to what
  

17   looks to be zero therms for October and November.
  

18               ALJ RILEY:  What you're asking the witness
  

19   is to explain the disparity in usage?
  

20               MR. BAILEY:  Right.
  

21               ALJ RILEY:  Can the witness answer the
  

22   question?
  

23               THE WITNESS:  No, I cannot.
  

24   BY MR. BAILEY:
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 1      Q.  All right.  Can you explain -- moving further --
  

 2   go to February 2013.  The bill date February 25th, 2013,
  

 3   should be the next page.  Can you explain the
  

 4   dramatically lower winter usage for the December,
  

 5   January, February on the far right-hand corner?
  

 6      A.  No.
  

 7      Q.  There versus the earlier February, March, April
  

 8   of the earlier year in that year?
  

 9      A.  No, I cannot.
  

10      Q.  Now, when did you first purchase this property?
  

11      A.  March 21st, 2006.
  

12      Q.  I'm going to --
  

13               MR. BAILEY:  May I approach the witness?
  

14               ALJ RILEY:  Certainly.
  

15   BY MR. BAILEY:
  

16      Q.  Can you explain -- this is a LexisNexis
  

17   Collection Solution.  This indicates a recording of
  

18   April 5th, 2005, for the property in your name.
  

19      A.  March 21st.  Okay, so I'm off.
  

20               ALJ RILEY:  We don't have any reference as
  

21   to what you're testifying to.
  

22               MR. BAILEY:  I'm sorry, I was --
  

23               ALJ RILEY:  What are we looking at here?
  

24               MR. BAILEY:  This was --
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 1               THE WITNESS:  The month is correct, and I
  

 2   guess --
  

 3               ALJ RILEY:  Let's identify the document
  

 4   first.
  

 5               THE WITNESS:  Okay.
  

 6               MR. BAILEY:  The document is identifying
  

 7   when the property was recorded in Miss Abdon's name.
  

 8               ALJ RILEY:  I see, and this is from
  

 9   LexisNexis?
  

10               MR. BAILEY:  This is a LexisNexis printout.
  

11   BY MR. BAILEY:
  

12      Q.  And it shows a recording date of April 5th, 2005,
  

13   and you were indicating your service began in 2006?
  

14      A.  Well, it also says there sale date March 21st,
  

15   2005.  I thought I purchased the home in 2006.  I said I
  

16   moved there March 21st, 2006.
  

17               ALJ RILEY:  So what you're saying is that
  

18   you purchased the home in '05, and moved there in '06?
  

19               THE WITNESS:  No, no, no.  What I'm saying
  

20   is March 21st is correct.  I thought I moved there on
  

21   2006, but if they have it on record as that, I got the
  

22   one year off.
  

23               MR. BAILEY:  Fair enough.  No further
  

24   questions.
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 1               MR. SPENCE:  Nothing further.
  

 2               ALJ RILEY:  Thank you very much.  The
  

 3   procedure from this point is that -- we have no further
  

 4   witnesses?
  

 5               MR. SPENCE:  We'd like to offer into
  

 6   evidence the Group Exhibit 1.
  

 7               ALJ RILEY:  The binder?
  

 8               MR. SPENCE:  Yes.
  

 9               ALJ RILEY:  All of her billings.
  

10               MR. BAILEY:  No objection.
  

11               ALJ RILEY:  Group Exhibit 1, Complainant's
  

12   Group Exhibit 1 is admitted into evidence in its
  

13   entirety.
  

14                   (Wherein, Complainant's Group Exhibit
  

15                   No. 1 is admitted into evidence.)
  

16               ALJ RILEY:  The proceeding from this
  

17   point -- the procedure from this point is the parties
  

18   can either make closing remarks now, or would the
  

19   parties rather submit closings in briefs?
  

20               MR. BAILEY:  I prefer to submit a brief.
  

21               MR. SPENCE:  That's fine.
  

22               ALJ RILEY:  And those would be filed with
  

23   the office of the chief clerk.  And what timeframe do we
  

24   need?
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 1               MR. SPENCE:  Judge, I think if I could have
  

 2   at least 30 days to prepare the brief.
  

 3               ALJ RILEY:  30 days okay?
  

 4               MR. BAILEY:  Your Honor, that's fine with
  

 5   me.
  

 6               ALJ RILEY:  30 days for briefs, and we'll
  

 7   make that -- make it April 10th.  Once I get the
  

 8   briefs -- I should have the transcript available at that
  

 9   point, and what I'll do is I'll complete a summary under
  

10   the heading "Proposed Order," and I will submit it to
  

11   the parties through the clerk's office, and that will
  

12   advise you this is what I propose to send to the
  

13   Commission, and it will have a date on there for
  

14   exceptions and replies to the exceptions, and after I
  

15   receive those exceptions, I'll prepare a final order for
  

16   the Commission.
  

17               Anything further?
  

18               MR. BAILEY:  No.
  

19               MR. SPENCE:  No.
  

20               ALJ RILEY:  All right.  Then I will direct
  

21   the court reporter to mark this matter heard and taken.
  

22                   (WHICH WERE ALL THE PROCEEDINGS HAD.)
  

23
  

24
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 5   and registered professional reporter within and for the
  

 6   County of Cook and State of Illinois, do hereby certify
  

 7   that the proceedings in the above-entitled matter was
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